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ECONOMIC REVIEW OF 2006 
 
2006 unfolded as a continuation of the previous year's trends. Commodity prices continued to 
climb – at least until the summer – without, however, provoking a serious rise in inflation or 
impacting global economies and financial markets where equities continued to record gains. 
 
Global expansion was driven by the growth of the US and emerging market economies and, 
above all, by impressive expansion in Asia as the world’s fourth-largest economy, China, grew 
at a rate of more than 10%. According to the International Monetary Fund, the world economy 
recorded growth of 5.1%. 
 
In this highly favourable context, the euro zone witnessed the gradual awakening of Germany, 
the region’s largest economy and France’s main trading partner. While the German economy 
benefited primarily from its export capabilities, which earned it the top rank among the world’s 
exporters with a trade surplus of nearly €170 billion, France, with its trade deficit, relied on 
household consumption to fuel its growth, reportedly around 2%. 
 
Fed by rising demand and the positions taken by speculative funds, commodity prices rose 
sharply across the board, from metals to oil. The trend lasted into the summer but failed to 
drive up inflation in 2006. At an average of 2.2% for the year, the inflation rate was 
nonetheless above the 2% cap that guides European Central Bank monetary policy. Several 
factors contributed to this situation, including the downtrend in commodity prices once the 
slowdown of the US economy became evident, gains in competitiveness against the backdrop 
of heightened global competition and the vigilance of central banks.  
 
In the United States, Federal Reserve Bank Chairman Ben Bernanke continued the gradual 
monetary tightening begun by his predecessor. Key rates were raised an additional 100 basis 
points before the slowing economy prompted the monetary authorities to suspend interest rate 
increases on 8 August when they stood at 5.25%. 
 
In the euro zone, the refinancing rate was raised five times by a total of 125 basis points during 
the year to reach 3.5%, its highest level since November 2001. The ECB was acting under the 
influence of several factors, including the easing of yields on bonds to what it termed an 
“extraordinarily low” level, the explosion of private-sector loans, fears that consumer prices 
would be driven higher by rising oil prices, the increase in the VAT rate in Germany that took 
effect in early 2007 and was expected to push up European inflation automatically, and fears 
that speculative bubbles were forming in the property markets of certain member states. 
Lastly, in July, the Bank of Japan abandoned the zero interest rate policy that had been in 
place for six years by raising its key rate a quarter of a point to 0.25%. 
 
In the circumstances, stronger expectations that the ECB would continue its rate increases lent 
new strength to the euro whereas the dollar was weakened by the decoupling of US monetary 
policy and fears of a recession. The dollar ended the year down 11.5% relative to the euro at 
$1.32 per euro. 
 
European financial markets trended upwards over the year with the CAC 40 gaining 18% (and 
the Next 20 up 32%), as Paris benefited from still-attractive prices and corporate merger 
activity, as well as improved earnings. 
In the United States, Wall Street took off strongly in the second half in response notably to the 
Fed’s decision to leave its key rates unchanged as the threat of a recession receded and the 
outlook for a soft landing strengthened. The DJ 30, the market’s benchmark index, ended the 
year up 16% after reaching a record high of 12,510 points earlier in December. Held back by a 
lacklustre technology sector, the Nasdaq gained just 10% for the year. 
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Meanwhile, in Japan, concerns about the durability of the economic recovery weighed on the 
Nikkei index, making Tokyo the world’s only major financial market to be limited to single-digit 
growth, with a gain of just 7%. 
 
Commodity prices and still-positive statistics on US economic activity initially pushed bond 
yields up, with the yield on the US 10-year note rising to more than 5.24% whereas in Europe 
the yield on 10-year bonds rose above 4% for the first time since October 2004. Right from the 
end of June, influenced by the outlook for a slowdown in the United States and the lull in oil 
prices, US long yields eased substantially to end the year at 4.7%. Pulled along in the wake of 
this trend, European yields also fell. Failing to respond to the stimulus provided by monetary 
policy, the yield on the French 10-year OAT slipped to around 3.98% at the end of the year 
from its high of 4.15% on 5 July. 
The forces limiting the rise of long rates played in full in the second half. Asian central banks 
and oil-exporting countries, with their huge foreign exchange reserves of more than $700 
billion a year, invested in US and European government issues while bond markets were 
already drawing support from the needs for long-dated issues of pension funds and insurers 
seeking to match the maturities of their assets and liabilities. 
 
A moderately optimistic scenario for 2007 is conceivable with respect to the global economy. 
Growth will certainly continue, but at a slower pace than in 2006. This will be the case in the 
United States, Europe and probably Japan. Asia will continue to post the most dynamic growth 
in 2007, although somewhat slower than in 2006. According to the Asian Development Bank, 
growth is expected to fall back to 4.4% in 2007 compared to an estimated 4.9% in 2006. 
China’s GDP is expected to surge ahead by 9.5% in 2007. 
International institutions, i.e. the OECD and the IMF, as well as the European Commission, are 
optimistic as to the outlook for growth in the euro zone in 2007. In its forecasts published at the 
end of November, the OECD projected an improved rate of 2.2% in 2007. 
 
Risk factors persist with regard to France’s domestic economy which continues to track an 
average trend. This outlook could soften if the drop in the property markets in the United States 
and certain euro zone countries managed to weaken growth in France’s neighbouring 
countries, or if an overly exaggerated depreciation of the US dollar once again undermined the 
competitiveness of France’s export products. Oil price trends, which depend on the geopolitical 
situation in addition to supply and demand, could introduce additional uncertainty. 
 
 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
The Board of Directors of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM) currently comprises 
16 members appointed by the General  Meeting and four non-voting members (censeurs) 
appointed by the Board in accordance with article 20 of its Articles of Association. 
 
Since 14 June 2002, the Board has chosen a dual management structure with Mr Etienne 
Pflimlin, the Chairman of the Board, and Mr Michel Lucas, the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
Details of the legal provisions pertaining to the composition of the Board of Directors and to the 
mandates of its members are included as an appendix to this report. 
 
At the Ordinary General Meeting held on 3 May 2006, the mandates of Mr Jean-Louis Boisson, 
from the SAS CLOE, Messrs Maurice Corgini, Jacques Humbert, Robert Duval, Bernard 
Morisseau and Etienne Pflimlin were renewed for a period of three years. The same Meeting 
appointed Mr Albert Peccoux a Member of the Board of Directors. 
 
The Board meeting held at the close of these Meetings renewed the mandate of Mr Etienne 
Pflimlin as the Chairman of the Board. 
 
On 27 October 2006, the Board of Directors co-opted Mr Alain Tetedoie to replace Mr Bernard 
Morisseau and welcomed Mr Eckart Thomä as the representative of the SAS CLOE to replace 
Mr François Duret. 
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At its meeting on 15 December, as a consequence of the District elections held in October 
2006, the Board noted the resignations of Messrs Jean-Marie Conroy and Paul Schwartz and, 
to replace them, co-opted Messrs Pierre Neu and Gérard Oliger. During this meeting, 
Mr Jacques Humbert was appointed Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors. 
 
 
MARKET ACTIVITIES 
 
Cash resources and refinancing 
 
The increased volume of resources raised on the markets and the continued diversification of 
their sources were the most salient features of the activities of the treasurers of CM-CIC 
Marchés, the name given to the joint BFCM / CIC dealing room in 2005. 
At 31 December 2006, total resources raised amounted to more than €85 billion. 
 
Of this total, €49 billion, representing 57% of total needs, were raised through short-term 
borrowings by our staff in Paris, Frankfurt and London through various negotiable certificate-of-
deposit (NCD) and Euro Commercial Paper (ECP) programmes, plus interbank resources. 
 
The excellent performance of the CMCEE-CIC branch network in marketing home loans once 
again required BFCM to carry out a significant long-term issuance programme in the form of 
Euro Medium-Term Notes (EMTN). During the year nearly €15 billion in long-term resources 
were raised, bringing EMTN outstandings to €26 billion at 31 December 2006. 
 
We pursued our strategy of resource diversification in 2006, not only in the euro zone where 
our issues are now well regarded, but also in the United States and Asia where our group was 
presented to the region’s main investors. 
In June, BFCM completed its first issue of X-Notes for the US market for a total of $3.5 billion 
and, in September, a $1 billion issue for the Asian market was introduced. 
 
In 2006, BFCM signed its eleventh loan agreement with the European Investment Bank (EIB) 
in Luxembourg, which was used to refinance loans granted to the group’s SME and local 
authority customers. 
 
 
Risk Management 
 
The dealing room must operate within the limits set by the Board of Directors concerning 
interest rate, foreign exchange, liquidity and counterparty risk. Compliance with these limits is 
monitored on a daily basis by verifying risks and results. This unit is responsible for monitoring 
all market risks for the entire CEE-CIC group. 
 
Daily immediate liquidity represented 86% average coverage of CMCEE customer demand 
deposits.  
 
At 31 December 2006, the equity and permanent resources ratio stood at 64.5% and liquidity 
gaps remained stable on all maturities of one year and above. 
 
 
Management of CM-CIC payment platforms and transaction processing 
 
BFCM represents the CM-CIC group for the management of the systems used to clear large 
amounts: Paris Net Settlement (PNS), Real Time Gross Settlement (RTGS) and Association 
des Banques Européennes (ABE), and the Relit Grande Vitesse (RGV) settlement/delivery 
system. In this capacity, it is responsible for the smooth flow of transactions and liquidity 
management. 
 
In 2006, the group witnessed the implementation of the reform of the collateral eligible for ECB 
refinancing with the introduction of the single list. This reform resulted in an increase of the 
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potential total amount that can be mobilised by the CEE-CIC group from €1.4 billion to more 
than €5 billion. 
In 2006, the CM-CIC group used these different platforms to process for its own account and 
for its bank clients an average of more than 11,000 transactions a day worth an average of 
nearly €33 billion. 
 
Moreover, in addition to handling its own transactions, BFCM provides processing services for 
various group entities such as BECM, Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel, Crédit Mutuel Savoie-
Mont Blanc and Crédit Mutuel Midi Atlantique. Altogether this amounted to 43,700 transactions 
worth some €2,200 billion. 
 
 
MUTUAL FUND CUSTODY 
 
Since 29 December 2006, Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel has acted as the custodian for 
the mutual funds of the CMCEE-CIC group (i.e. the funds managed by the investment 
management companies CM-CIC Asset Management, CM-CIC Capital Privé and LBO 
Partners), and of various outside asset managers. 
 
On that date, the custody activities exercised by Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel, Caisse 
Centrale du Crédit Mutuel and CIC were transferred to Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel. 
 
In accordance with regulations, the custody function involves: 
 

- Keeping the custody accounts (primarily for marketable securities and cash 
instruments), and the positions of other securities (notably derivatives and financial 
instruments in pure registered form). The conditions under which this activity is 
exercised remain the same as those under which it was previously exercised by the 
group’s specialised structures; 

- Verifying the compliance of the funds’ and management companies’ investment 
decisions. In this context, the new control-custody structure at Banque Fédérative du 
Crédit Mutuel has been strengthened. 

 
At 31 December 2006, BFCM was the custodian of 721 mutual funds with total assets under 
management of €51 billion. 
 
 
RELATIONS WITH LARGE COMPANIES AND FINANCIAL ENGINEERING 
 
Both 2004 and 2005 were very active in terms of refinancing transactions, while 2006 saw 
significant growth in leveraged financing. This trend was underpinned by persistently high 
levels of liquidity and low interest rates. 
 
In addition, the market was boosted by significant international mergers and acquisitions 
(Mittal-Arcelor, Albertis-Sanef, etc.) in which CM-CIC played a leading role. The favourable 
economic environment was reflected in particular in a cost of risk that remained historically low. 
 
CM-CIC pursued its strategy based on:  
- Strengthening ties with large clients notably thanks to arranging major financing 

transactions, 
- Balance sheet and receivables structuring deals, 
- Further integrating the group’s business lines, which led to its arranging significant 

transactions (such as for reimbursable bonds with equity subscription or purchase 
warrants, or OBSAAR) requiring the full range of CM-CIC know-how, 

- Strong growth of the cash management activity thanks to many successful responses to 
requests for proposals both domestically and internationally, some of which on a major 
scale. 

 
So far, 2007 has corroborated the trends from last year in an economic environment that 
remains favourable but has yet to be confirmed, featuring a leading role for investment funds in 
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corporate acquisitions within a framework of abundant liquidity and increased buy-out activity. 
The corporate sector is expected to continue to undergo significant change.  
 
 
SUBSIDIARIES AND INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 
 
The portfolio of investments in subsidiaries and associates and participating loans had a total 
value of €3,938.1 million at 31 December 2006, compared to €3,741.9 million one year earlier. 
 
The following were among the year’s most significant events affecting these portfolio interests: 
 
- BFCM set up two new wholly-owned legal structures with a social capital of €37,000 each: 

Devest 9 SAS and Devest 10 SAS; 
 
- BFCM, together with Véolia, set up and took a 34% equity interest (€12,580) in Compagnie 

Alsacienne d'Eaux et d'Assainissement SA; 
 
- Axxès SAS proceeded with a capital increase, with BFCM subscribing for €625,000 

partially offsetting the shareholder advance granted. BFCM now owns 25% of Axxès; 
 
- As part of the annual adjustment to the capital of Caisse de Refinancement de l'Habitat 

(CRH), €1,108,481 worth of shares were sold. Moreover, within the framework of a capital 
increase staged by CRH, BFCM subscribed for €2,426,553; 

 
- BFCM purchased 2,314,706 shares in Club Sagem for €6.3 million for a 17.07% equity 

interest; 
 
- BFCM subscribed for Saem Mulhouse Expo’s capital increase for €28,000, bringing its 

equity interest to 6.16%; 
 
- BFCM sold the entire 6.45% equity interest it held in Financière du Crédit Mutuel. 
 
 
INFORMATION ON THE ACTIVITY AND RESULTS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND COMPANIES 
CONTROLLED BY BFCM (ARTICLE L 233-6 OF FRANCE’S COMMERCIAL CODE) 
 
Pursuant to the above-mentioned article, the report submitted to the General Meeting must 
include the results of subsidiaries and companies controlled by BFCM, presented by sector of 
activity. 
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Finance and similar activities 
 
Groupe Crédit Industriel et Commercial SA (CIC): CIC passed a major threshold proving the 
wisdom of the strategy it has followed for the past eight years as it generated a consolidated 
net profit of €1,334 million in 2006 (€1,274 million after minority interests). 
 
1/ The wisdom of CIC’s strategy…  
 
In eight years, CIC has become a dynamic company in its increasingly deep alliance with its 
main shareholder, Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CMCEE). 
 
CIC now has a single information system that is customer-oriented and responsive and which it 
shares with CMCEE. Thanks to this system, it has been possible to combine the two entities’ 
development and production structures, boost their capacity and reflect even more fully their 
communal spirit. The system is now capable of being rolled out from its five platforms, for the 
benefit of both entities, and can thus meet the rapidly changing needs of each business while 
streamlining their logistics tools. This will lead to a better, and therefore more secure, operating 
balance. 
 
CIC has also unified its organisation. With the mergers completed at the end of the year, its 
five regional divisions have become a reality and given rise to: 

− CIC Banque BSD – CIN in northern France, 
− CIC Banque CIO – BRO in western France. 

All its specialised business lines have now been grouped together in common centres shared 
with CMCEE and integrated into the information system. The most recent combination involved 
capital market activities with the creation of CM-CIC Marchés, which have been split between 
BFCM (for group-wide refinancing needs) and CIC (for proprietary activities). The formal 
conclusion to the process came with the transfer to CIC of the market activities of CIAL, which 
was approved by CIC’s extraordinary general meeting of 7 September 2006. 
 
CIC has defined and brought into force a joint system for the status of employees. Thus the 
integration has been more than simply technical and legal, and involves all employees. Thanks 
to this unified status, job mobility from one component entity to the next has become possible 
and is considered to be a key factor in raising employees’ awareness of the reality of the 
change on a day-to-day basis. These consequences are all the more significant in that the 
change has been accompanied by the creation of several thousand added-value positions in 
the network and by an enormous training effort to favour internal redeployment of human 
resources. 
 
CIC has very efficiently re-launched its market growth as can be seen in its opening of 336 
new branches in eight years, bringing the total to nearly 2,000, and in its speeding up of the 
process in three regions whose network density is still considered insufficient – Ile-de-France, 
Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur and the South-West. 
 
As a result, CIC can now initiate its international expansion with confidence, without shedding 
the caution required by current circumstances. For example, in the area of private banking, 
CIC has opened a subsidiary in Brussels (Banque Transatlantique Belgium) and acquired 
another in Switzerland (Swiss First Private Banking A.G.). Other developments, in Europe and 
the Mediterranean region, are also being considered that reflect CIC's goal to achieve 
determined and controlled growth from its now solid domestic base. 
 
2/ … as seen in its results  
 
Among other things, the priority placed on the development of retail banking made it possible 
to: 

- Win more than 190,000 new customers (an additional 5.2%), including private 
individuals, self-employed professionals and companies (for a total of 3,803,314 at 
31 December 2006); 
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- Promote and increase customer loan production (up 21%), and in particular home loans 
(up 23%), corporate loans (up 20%) both for investment and working capital purposes, 
and consumer loans (up 11%), which resulted in 18% growth in loans outstanding; 

- Increase total savings deposits by 8% with respect to both accounting deposits and 
savings under management and held in custody; 

- Inject new life into the non-life insurance activity with the number of policies up by 26%; 
- Record increases in financial fees and commissions of 9%. 

 
CIC’s net banking income increased by 33.4% to €4,354 million in 2006, up from €3,265 million 
in 2005. 
 
Net banking income from retail banking, CIC’s core business generating two thirds of its net 
banking income, increased by 4.6% to €2,809 million and its pre-tax profit rose by 19.5% to 
€789 million. Net banking income from private banking (9.2% of the total) increased by 21.2% 
to €400 million while net banking income from the private equity activity (6.2% of the total) rose 
by 10.1% to €272 million. Financing and capital markets activity generated net banking income 
of €680 million, up from €17 million the previous year. 
 
The cost of risk was down 16% overall to €80 million from €95 million in 2005. The coverage 
ratio of doubtful and disputed loans came to 64.3% at 31 December 2006, compared to 65.3% 
one year earlier.  
 
CIC has a remarkably solid balance sheet. Its European solvency ratio (based on tier-1 capital) 
amounted to 8.9%, compared to 6.9% one year earlier, with shareholders’ equity of €8.5 billion, 
making it one of the best French banks by this measure. The credit rating agencies have 
reflected this improvement in their ratings actions: Standard & Poor’s upgraded its long-term 
credit rating to AA- in line with that of CIC’s shareholder. Furthermore, this balance sheet 
strengthening did not come at the expense of return on equity which reached 21.5% for the 
year with earnings per share of €36.50. Lastly, these results were also reflected in CIC’s share 
price, which doubled in the space of a year without exhausting its possibilities for further 
improvement. 
 
At the General Meeting scheduled for 31 May 2007, the CIC Management Board will propose 
the payment of a net dividend of €4.43 per share, up from the €4.10 paid in respect of 2005, 
payable in shares. 
 
BFCM purchased 38,975 CIC shares for €7.5 million within the context of the liquidity 
agreement, and held 70.41% of CIC’s shares. 
 
Banque de l'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique SAS (BECM): BECM is the group 
subsidiary operating mainly in the market for large and medium-sized companies and in the 
financing of property market professionals (property developers, property companies and the 
financing of assets). In this last area, BECM is the CMCEE-CIC group’s key bank. In the 
market for industrial and commercial companies, it operates throughout France and in 
Germany. It brings its technical skills to bear on behalf of its clients both for financing the full 
range of their needs and for providing value-added services such as domestic and 
international cash flow engineering, social and financial engineering and dealing room 
activities. To enhance the group’s internal efficiency and cohesion, BECM and CIC’s large and 
medium-sized corporate network employs convergent technical, commercial and risk 
monitoring procedures and tools. In addition, BECM has developed a wealth management 
activity for company owners and executives. 
 
BECM maintained its policies of sustained growth and achieved a sharp increase in loans 
outstanding (up 17%) and resources (up 32%). This growth made possible a substantially 
improved interest margin of 29%. Fee and commission income continued to grow thanks to its 
high-quality staff and the quality of the value-added products and services offered to clients. 
Risk was kept at a low level and, after transferring €15 million to the fund for general banking 
risks, the net profit for the year amounted to €48.9 million (up 34%). 
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Ventadour Investissement SA: Ventadour Investissement’s main activity continues to be 
making equity investments in other companies. The gross value of its interests outside the 
Crédit Mutuel group amounted to €0.7 million compared to €0.9 million the previous year.  
At the end of 2006, the CIC line was €1,060 million compared to €1,110 million in 2005, i.e. 
€50 million less because of a sale of securities. 
 
ICM Finance: this Swiss financial institution continued to develop its marketable securities 
brokerage activity as it had in 2005. 
 
Groupe Sofemo SA: Sofemo’s activities continued to be focused on the production of 
instalment payments and development of seller credits. Net customer loans outstanding 
increased to €310 million in 2006 from €237 million. A net profit of €2.6 million was recorded 
for the year and the company’s shareholders’ equity before appropriation of the profit for the 
year was €21 million. 
 
CM-CIC SCPI Gestion SA: This company manages the property companies (Sociétés Civiles 
de Placement Immorbilier or SCPI) "Crédit Mutuel Immobilier 1" and "Ouest Pierre 
Investissement" and recorded a net profit of €91,000 for the year. 
 
Mutuel Bank Luxembourg: a 60%-owned subsidiary of Banque Transatlantique, Mutual Bank 
Luxembourg continued its growth in 2006. It ended the year with nearly 6% more customers 
and assets under management also increased. The strength of financial markets led to a new 
increase in volumes processed and net banking income rose substantially to €5,762 million 
from €4,950 million (up 16%). 
 
Banque de Luxembourg: the investment approach of Banque de Luxembourg, which consists 
of seeking regular returns over the long term and preserving capital, once again paid off. After 
having proven the wisdom of this approach in the difficult early years of the decade, Banque 
de Luxembourg confirmed its aptness in the favourable conditions that have prevailed since 
2005, with its entire range of funds frequently outperforming the market average. 
 
In the area of managed accounts, Banque de Luxembourg relies especially on the multi-
management approach using its own funds and a selection of the best international funds. Its 
expertise in this area derives from its specialised subsidiary Fund-Market, an independent 
investment fund advisor and the centre of expertise for the CM-CIC group with regard to 
selecting third-party funds and multi-management. 
 
Banque de Luxembourg also meets the specific needs of non-resident clients for tax and 
estate planning, notably through the use of specialised Luxembourg investment vehicles. It 
also assists investors planning to establish tax residence in the Grand Duchy because of the 
elimination of the wealth tax that took effect on 1 January 2006. 
 
Moreover, it continues to make its private banking expertise available to asset management 
professionals by providing a comprehensive range of services primarily related to custody 
services, investment funds and the design and distribution of financial products.  
 
At 31 December 2006, Banque de Luxembourg had total assets of €12.7 billion. Customer 
deposits of cash and securities totalled €60.7 billion, an increase of 22% for the year. This 
strong growth in activity enabled it to record a profit of €69 million for the year, up 15.3%. 
 
Results (contribution to the consolidated results of the group CIC Banque CIAL) included net 
banking income of €232.4 million, up 14.7% compared to the year ended 31 December 2005, 
which led to an 11.8% gain in gross operating profit to €112.5 million compared to €100.6 
million at end-2005. 
The contribution to the group share of net profit (i.e. after tax and minority interests) increased 
by 18.8% to €65.2 million from €54.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2005.  
With 6% weighted risks, return on equity improved and stood at 30.3%. 
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Boréal SAS: despite favourable market conditions, Boréal’s activity declined in 2006 because 
of changes in the scope of its client base. Its sales dropped 12.3% but its profit increased by 
81.1% thanks to a 30.5% reduction in operating expenses. 
 
CM-CIC Lease SA: For CM-CIC Lease, 2006 was a year of consolidation and for fine-tuning 
its new information system and its organisation.  
The work relating to combining the portfolios of the various companies that have been merged, 
the migration to the new Cassiopée information processing application and the interfaces with 
the group’s information systems were also finalised at the end of 2006 and featured, in 
particular, application upgrades making it possible to integrate the new functionalities planned 
for 2007. The work focused primarily on maintaining optimal security in managing outstandings 
which doubled with the mergers and on developing a more responsive approach to taking 
charge of new transactions, and made it possible to put a new organisation in place at the end 
of the year. 
 
Domestic property lease production was stable for the fourth consecutive year in terms of the 
value of contracts signed (€4.4 billion), new leases and the number of applications. With the 
total outstandings of the industry’s main players remaining flat, the market was hit by 
heightened competition and lower margins. 
 
Since the mergers resulted in reducing and partially replacing the number of agents at group 
banks specialised in property leases, CM-CIC Lease production recorded a slight decline in 
new contracts signed to €308 million. The average amount per transaction also declined 
slightly to €1.45 million. 
 
Under the circumstances, CM-CIC Lease strived in particular to maintain the quality of risks on 
new transactions and its margins. 
Total outstandings were stable at €1,970 million while operating overheads were kept under 
control, which resulted in a net profit of €13.5 million after paying €6.4 million in transfer risk 
commissions to the bank network (up more than 10%). Down from the €20.6 million achieved 
in 2006, these results were nonetheless achieved without the merger-related effects that had 
affected the two previous years. 
 
The composition of the lease portfolio was stable with 55% concerning industrial premises and 
warehouses, 23% commercial space, 12% offices and 10% miscellaneous. CM-CIC Lease is a 
major operator in the corporate market where it has market share of 7%. 
 
CM-CIC Asset Management SA is the group business line centre dedicated to mutual fund 
management. It provides the Crédit Mutuel and CIC banking networks with a broad, innovative 
range of financial products whose restructuring was actively pursued in 2006. At 31 December 
2006, total assets under management in its more than 680 funds amounted to €50,684 million, 
breaking down as follows: 
 

- Equity and diversified funds: €15,105 million, 
- Money market funds: €29,670 million, 
- Bond funds: €2,872 million, 
- Formula funds: €3,037 million. 

 
CM-CIC AM has a staff of 186 in Paris and Strasbourg managing these funds. The investment 
teams are grouped into several areas of expertise: European equities, quantitative investment 
techniques, multi-management, money market instruments and bonds, absolute return funds 
and socially responsible investment funds. 
 
Net inflows in 2006 mainly concerned formula funds whose net subscriptions reached the 
unprecedented level of more than €600 million. Pro-active marketing policies allowed the unit 
to move ahead in lockstep with the networks thanks to increased training and supervision for 
all targeted products. Among other things, this made it possible to diversify multiple-instrument 
life-insurance policies into equity and diversified mutual funds such as Evolio and those in the 
Pilotage range. 
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Alongside these widely distributed mutual funds, CM-CIC AM manages 264 company mutual 
investment funds (FCPE) with total assets of nearly €4 billion in the context of its employee 
savings activity. It has also developed an original company retirement savings plan (PERCO) 
offer based on the CM-CIC Perspective FCPE family of funds. 
 
In 2006, CM-CIC AM continued to develop its managed account activity which now has nearly 
€800 million under management and in 2007 will join CM-CIC Gestion whose role is to group 
together the different managed account activities disseminated throughout the group. 
 
At the end of the year, the custody function which had been exercised by three different group 
entities was grouped together within BFCM. 
 
Lastly, CM-CIC AM provides fund accounting services to 48 other asset management 
companies, which are primarily entrepreneurial in nature and are evaluated at around €10 
billion divided among nearly 180 funds. 
 
In 2006, as in 2005, the equity and fixed-income investment teams achieved excellent returns 
and earned many awards (La Tribune’s “Victoires” over five years, the “Corbeilles” awarded by 
the magazine Mieux-Vivre Votre Argent for Employee Savings Plans over three years, etc.). 
 
Revenues for 2006 amounted to €295.5 million compared to €246.7 million for 2005 and 
consisted mainly of fund management fees and commissions on stock market transactions. 
Operating expenses totalled €289.3 million consisting mainly of fees and commissions paid to 
the distribution networks, Crédit Mutuel and CIC. The net profit for the year amounted to 
€4,931 thousand. 
 
Crédit Mutuel Participation SA (CMP): Once again in 2006 assets under management grew 
sharply (up 26%) resulting in significant revenue growth of 17%. 
From the marketing standpoint, growth continued as 1,300 additional companies joined the 
system, 27% more than in 2005. 
 
At the same time, tight control of operating expenses led to an operating margin of 10%. 
Payments under fee-sharing agreements grew to more than €2 million, 32% more than in 2005 
and 83% more than in 2004. 
 
 
Insurance 
 
Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel SA (GACM): GACM’s main activity involves 
taking and managing equity interests in insurance and reinsurance companies. It has no 
operating activities of its own. 
 
GACM is the parent company of: 
• The life insurance companies ACM Vie S.A., Sérénis Vie and International Crédit Mutuel 

Life (ICM LIFE), 
• The non-life insurance companies ACM IARD, Assurances du Sud and S.A Partners 

Assurances, 
• The reinsurance company International Crédit Mutuel Réinsurance (ICM RE), 
• Several service companies such as Procourtage, Euro Protection Services SA and ACM 

Services. 
 
GACM also owns interests in several foreign companies: 

- 10% of the capital of three Canadian non-life insurance companies of Mouvement 
Desjardins, 

- 30% of the Tunisian company Astree, 
- 20.25% of Royale Marocaine d’Assurance – Watanya. 

 
In addition, GACM has significant interests in other French non-life insurance companies: 

- 49% of the capital of Assurances du Crédit Mutuel Nord Iard SA, 
- 34% of the capital of Suravenir Assurances SA. 
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During the year, GACM S.A. completed the following transactions: 
 
• Acquisition of an additional 10.25% of the capital of Moroccan insurance company Royale 

Marocaine d’Assurance – Watanya, bringing GACM S.A.’s total stake to 20.25%; 
 
• Full repayment of the shareholder’s current account advance granted by BFCM for €100 

million with interest payments totalling €986,606.73; 
 
• Cash capital increase, as decided by the Board of Directors, involving the creation of 

9,843,553 shares at €26.86 per share, including an issue premium of €11.36. All of the 
company’s shareholders subscribed for this capital increase which raised the share capital 
from €701,845,332 to €854,420,403.50; 

  
• Capital increase by paying dividends in shares, raising the capital from €854,420,403.50 to 

€879,868,381. All of the company’s shareholders chose to receive the dividend in shares; 
 
• Purchase of the entire share capital of Belgian non-life insurance company S.A Partners 

Assurances from, simultaneously, Verfin, Horpa, Finassur and Verspieren; 
 
• Merger-absorption of non-life insurance company Serenis S.A. by non-life insurance 

company ACM IARD S.A., generating a merger capital gain for GACM S.A. of €132,125 
thousand. 

 
 

GACM had a net profit of €292,298 thousand for the year, compared to €68,233 thousand in 
2005, because of dividends received and the capital gain on the merger-absorption of 
Serenis S.A. by ACM IARD S.A. 
  
GACM chose to form a tax group with its subsidiaries ACM Vie S.A., ACM IARD S.A., 
Assurances du Sud S.A., Procourtage S.A., Euro Protection Services S.A., ACM Services and 
Sérénis Vie. 
 
BFCM subscribed for 5,508,881 shares (€147.9 million) in the context of GACM’s capital 
increase and also reinvested its dividend in shares (€24.7 million).  
 
 
IT services 
 
Euro-Information SAS: Euro-Information had good results in 2006, recording a net profit of 
€53.2 million. The company’s high profit in 2005 was notably due to exceptional (and therefore 
non-recurring) income booked that year. Euro-Information absorbed CIC Information, its sister 
company within the CIC universe through a merger-absorption process that took place on 
19 May 2006 with retroactive effect as from 1 January 2006. BFCM owns 14% of the capital of 
Euro-Information. 
 
 
Property 
 
CM-CIC Participations Immobilières SA: On behalf of the group, CM-CIC Participations 
Immobilières took part in 18 new programmes representing a total of around 1,180 residential 
units and invested alongside property investment companies (SCIs) involved in residential 
property programmes throughout France. It had sales of €236 million and consumed 
€3.5 million of equity for a reported net profit of €1,652 thousand. 
 
Sarest SA: in 2006, Sarest, a property improvement company, had a good year in Alsace 
Lorraine in terms of production despite a tight property market with 318 lots sold and 
preliminary agreements signed for another 94, generating total revenues of €28.2 million. 
Sarest expanded its activity into the Franche-Comté, Bourgogne and Rhône-Alpes regions and 
generated a net profit of €2,380 thousand. 
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CM-CIC Agence Fédérative Immobilière SAS: a property broker for new residential units, 
CM-CIC Afedim works collectively for the retail networks of Crédit Mutuel, CIC and Private 
Banking within the framework of the Hoquet law. This internal service provider targets 
investors and first-time buyers. The programmes it promotes are previously approved by a 
committee that includes the commitments, wealth management and sales units. In 2006, 2,800 
residential units were sold for a total of €440 million generating €18 million in fees excluding 
tax. The net profit for the year amounted to €327 thousand. 
 
Sofédim SAS: Sofédim generates its revenues primarily through property asset arbitrage, 
delegated project ownership contracts, management on behalf of investors and proprietary 
property management transactions. The net profit for the year came to €160 thousand. 
 
 
Media  
 
Société Civile de Gestion des Parts du Crédit Mutuel dans le Journal "L'Alsace": the 
55% equity interest in newspaper L’Alsace is carried on this company’s balance sheet at 
€1.6 million. 
 
Société Française d'Edition de Journaux et d'Imprimés Commerciaux "L'Alsace" SAS: 
this holding company, which is 23%-owned by BFCM, controls all the companies of L'Alsace 
group with activities in publishing, communications, radio and advertising. 
 
Devestmedia SAS: this wholly-owned BFCM subsidiary purchased no new equity interests in 
the media and communication sector during the year. 
 
Ebra SAS: this holding company owns the equity interest of L'Est Républicain (51%) and 
BFCM in a regional press division. BFCM invested €18,620 to obtain 49% of its capital when 
this company was set up. 
 
 
Services and other 
 
Réma SNC: Réma SNC is an equipment resale expert whose sales increased from 
€8.1 million to €15.6 million, up 93%the net profit for the year amounted to €60,403. 
 
Bischenberg SA: Bischenberg’s sales rose 3.6% to reach the €3 million threshold. Outside 
clients accounted for 37% of these sales, up sharply from 2005 and the room occupancy rate 
was 60%. The company cancelled its lease on Villa Mathis as from 1 July 2006 and the 
investments made were taken over by the new tenant. Work on extending the facility is 
scheduled for June or July 2007. 
 
Sofédis SA: sales amounted to €42.7 million, an improvement over 2005, and the net profit 
came to €2.5 million. 
 
Devest 6 SA: this company continued to manage aeronautics-related services through a 
leasing arrangement with a local partner. 
 
 
TRENDS AND PROSPECTS 
 
In its capacity as the group’s holding company, BFCM will continue to be, depending on 
opportunities, its preferred vehicle for alliances and growth-related transactions. Its refinancing 
activity is expected to increase in line with network growth. 
 
 
FINANCIAL DATA RELATING TO THE INDIVIDUAL COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
BANQUE FÉDÉRATIVE DU CRÉDIT MUTUEL 
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Balance sheet 
 
At 31 December 2006, BFCM had total assets of €119.2 billion, 25% more than in the previous 
year. 
 
On the liabilities side, amounts owed to credit institutions include the deposits totalling 
€34.9 billion (up 8.6% compared to the end of 2005) gathered by the Crédit Mutuel Banks in 
the Centre Est Europe, Sud-Est, Ile-de-France and Savoie-Mont Blanc Federations via Caisse 
Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe (CFCMCEE). 
 
Customer deposits recorded under liabilities amounted to €1.4 billion, comprising mutual fund 
credit balances for €1.2 billion and term deposits and borrowings from customers for 
€205.5 million.  
 
Total resources in the form of securities amounted to €46 billion, comprising Interbank 
securities and negotiable debt instruments for €20.8 billion and bonds for €25.2 billion. 
 
The fund for general banking risks was stable year-to-year at €61.6 as were super-
subordinated securities at €1.6 billion. Total shareholders’ equity and similar funds thus 
amounted to €4.4 billion, excluding the net profit for the year.  
 
On the assets side, BFCM’s role as treasurer for the CEE group was reflected mainly in its 
balances of €101 billion with credit institutions. Most of this amount, €42 billion, consisted of 
refinancing provided to CFCMCEE to fund loans distributed by Crédit Mutuel Banks. Another 
€21.7 billion was used to refinance the specific needs of CFCMCEE. BFCM’s refinancing 
activity also extended to Banque de l'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique and to 
various CIC entities for a total of €27.9 billion.  
 
Loans and advances to customers came to €3 billion and were extended primarily to large 
companies. 
 
The other uses of funds (amounting to €7.9 billion) were for BFCM’s trading, available-for-sale 
and held-to-maturity portfolios. 
 
Shares in related undertakings amounted to €3.8 billion and mainly consisted of the 
investments in CIC (€2.5 billion) and in Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel 
(€608 million). 

 
Profit and loss account 
 
Interest and similar income amounted to €7.5 billion, of which €7 billion in transactions with 
credit institutions. 
 
Interest and similar charges came to €7.3 billion, including €5.7 billion relating to credit 
institutions and €1.6 billion in interest on securities issued. 
 
Most of the income from shares (€157.6 million) came from dividends paid by CIC (€102.3 
million), Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (€24.7 million), BECM (€14 million) and CM-
CIC Lease (€9.4 million). 
 
After factoring in fees and commissions and other operating items, net banking income for the 
year came to €267 million compared to €245 million in 2005. 
 
General operating expenses totalled €29.7 million. 
 
In addition, €10,619 in lease payments and depreciation charges for company cars that were 
not tax deductible were added back to income taxable at the statutory rate. 
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Lastly, net income for the year, after tax charges of €25.2 million, amounted to €209.1 million in 
2006 compared to €286.8 million in 2005 (down 27%). This decline is primarily attributable to 
the realisation in 2005 of a capital gain on the sale of the equity interest in Galeries Lafayette. 
 

 
Proposals submitted to the Annual General Meeting 
 
The appropriations proposed to the Annual General Meeting concern the following amounts: 
 

Profit for 2006 €209,112,479.74 
Unappropriated earnings 
brought forward 

€2,394,142.54 

Total €211,506,622.28 

 
We propose: 

 
- Paying a dividend of €5.38 per share for each of the 26,043,845 shares comprising 

the share capital, for a total dividend payout of €140,115,886.10, eligible for the 
50% tax reduction provided for in Article 158 of the French General Tax Code 
(Code Général des Impôts); 

 
- Transferring €12,000,000.00 to the legal reserve; 

 
- Transferring €58,000,000.00 to the general reserve; 

 
- Carrying forward the balance of €1,390,736.18.  
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In accordance with current legal requirements, the following table summarises the dividends 
per share paid with respect to the three previous years: 
 

Year 2003 2004 2005

Dividend (€) €3,53 €4,20 €5,32
Tax credit (€) €1,77 - -
Dividend eligible for the tax 
reduction provided for in Article 
158 of the French General Tax 
Code

- yes yes

 
 

 
 
FINANCIAL DATA RELATING TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF BANQUE 
FÉDÉRATIVE DU CRÉDIT MUTUEL AND RISK REPORT 
 
Financial statements 
 
Pursuant to EC regulation 1606/2002 relative to the application of International Accounting 
Standards (IAS), and EC regulation 1725/2003 on the adoption of said standards, the 
consolidated financial statements for the year have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union on the 
closing date of the year. The IFRS include the IAS, IFRS 1 to 7 and their interpretations as 
adopted on that date. Summary reports are presented in compliance with CNC 
recommendation 2004-R.03. 
 
Balance sheet  
 
At 31 December 2006, the total assets of the BFCM group (measured in accordance with 
IFRS) amounted to €339.0 billion compared to €298.9 billion at end-2005 (up 13.4%). 
 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss totalled €26.6 billion compared 
to €33.2 billion at end-2005, and consisted primarily of derivatives and other trading financial 
liabilities in addition to amounts owed to credit institutions measured at fair value through profit 
or loss. 
 
Other amounts owed to credit institutions totalled €103.4 billion, 15.9% more than one year 
earlier. 
 
Securities issued, other than those measured at fair value through profit or loss, totalled 
€72.0 billion of which the majority, €46.3 billion, consisted of interbank securities and 
negotiable debt securities, followed by bonds at €25.0 billion. The remainder consisted of 
certificates of deposits and other securities. 
 
Customer deposits reported on the liabilities side of the balance sheet, including accrued 
interest, consist of customer deposits in the form of savings for accounting purposes. These 
deposits increased by 7.3% to reach €61.1 billion at end-2006. CIC entities alone contributed 
€58.4 billion to this amount. 
 
Technical provisions for insurance policies, representing obligations to policyholders, 
amounted to €42.2 billion, 11.5% more than the previous year, with most of this amount (€37.1 
billion) consisting of customer savings managed by the life insurance companies of Groupe 
Assurance du Crédit Mutuel. 
 
Minority interests reported in liabilities in the balance sheet amounted to €1.6 billion at 
31 December 2006 and consisted primarily of the 23.5% interest held by the other Crédit 
Mutuel companies with investments in GACM and the 8% interest in CIC held by outside 
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shareholders. On the assets side, interbank investments increased by 18.1% over the year to 
reach €99.2 billion.  
 
Loans and advances to customers stood at €100.0 billion at 31 December 2006, up 19.8% 
from the previous year. More than 90% of loans are granted through the intermediary of CIC 
entities. The increase over the period is attributable to sustained growth in home loans 
outstanding. 
 
Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss amounted to €65.5 billion 
compared to €68.7 billion in 2005.  
 
Assets included goodwill of €646 million overall, mainly relating to the purchase of CIC shares 
(€506 million in residual goodwill). 
 
 
Profit and loss account 
 
BFCM’s net profit after minority interests grew by 73.9% from €944 million in 2005 to 1,642 
million in 2006, with all business lines making a positive contribution.  
 
Retail banking was the predominant contributor to net profit with €595 million (up 12.6%). The 
insurance division generated a net profit of €429 million (up 30.5%). The financing and capital 
markets businesses contributed €436 million, with private equity and private banking 
contributing €299 million and €118 million, respectively. 
 
BFCM’s net banking income amounted to €5.7 billion, 28.8% more than the previous year.  
 
The retail banking division’s net banking income came to €3.1 billion, up 4.5% for the year. The 
insurance division’s net banking income grew by 20.5% to reach €908.9 million, that of private 
banking by 18.8% to €392.5 million and that of private equity by 35.4% to €335.4 million.  
 
General operating expenses were up 4.1% to €3,000.9 million. By contrast, the cost of risk 
declined by 13.6% to €90.0 million. 
 
Pre-tax profit on ordinary activities grew by 80.9% over the year to €2.6 billion. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Board of Directors 
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REPORT ON THE OPERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL PROCEDURES 

 
(pursuant to Article 117 of the French Financial Security Act and Article L. 225-37 of the 

French Commercial Code) 
 

 
The provisions of Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code stipulate that the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of a limited liability company (société anonyme) must give an 
account, in a report appended to the annual report, of the conditions under which the Board’s 
work is prepared and organised, the internal control procedures put in place by the company 
and any limitations that the Board has applied to the powers of the CEO. 
 
1. PREPARATION AND ORGANISATION OF THE BOARD’S WORK 
 
Composition of the Board 
 
The Board of Directors of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is currently composed of 16 
members appointed by the General Meeting of shareholders for a term of three years and four 
censors (non-voting members) also appointed by the Board for three years in accordance with 
Article 20 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association. The list of members of the Board 
and functions exercised in other companies is shown in the appendix as required by law. The 
Board includes representatives of partner Crédit Mutuel Groups (Ile-de-France, Savoie-Mont 
Blanc and Sud-Est) and of associated Groups (Loire-Atlantique Centre Ouest, Laval, 
Normandy and Centre). 
 
Two employees sit on the Board of Directors as representatives of the inter-federal Works 
Council. 
 
No directors’ fees have been paid or stock options granted. 
 
The compensation of the Chairman and the CEO, within the context of the Group, is 
determined in accordance with the legal conditions by a Remunerations Committee. 
 
Operation of the Board and general management 
 
In accordance with the provisions of Article L 225-51-1 of the French Commercial Code, the 
Board has opted for the two-tier approach to general management. 
 
The Board is chaired by Mr Etienne Pflimlin. As such, he represents the Board, organises and 
manages its work and ensures that the members are in a position to fulfil their duties. 
 
General management of the company is provided by Mr Michel Lucas. As such, he has the 
broadest legal powers to act in the company’s name and to represent it with regard to third 
parties. 
 
There are no internal regulations formalising the rules for the operation of the Board, which is 
governed by the legal provisions.  
 
At individual level, besides the obligations to respect privacy and professional secrecy in 
connection with the company’s purpose, the members of the Board must, in their elected 
capacity, comply with the code of ethics used in the Group. 
 
In 2006, the Board met seven times. The attendance rate averaged 81%.  
 
For each Board meeting, a comprehensive dossier on the items on the agenda is sent by mail 
to all members, censors and Works Council representatives. At each meeting, the managers 
responsible for the businesses covered by one or more items on the agenda are invited to 
present and comment on these items and to respond to any questions. Minutes of the 
meetings are issued to all members of the Board. 
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The exceptional Board meeting of 3 March 2006 was called to discuss the financial partnership 
with L'Est Républicain, an industrial operator in the acquisition of the Delaroche group. 
 
The meeting of 24 March 2006 was dedicated to examining the accounts, their approval, the 
observations of the independent auditors and preparations for the Ordinary and Extraordinary 
General Meetings of shareholders that were held on 3 May 2006. The Board considered the 
report on internal control, investment services and compliance required by regulation no. 97-02 
of the CRBF. It authorised the issue of borrowings and set the risk limits for 2006. The full 
management report used to monitor the company’s financial affairs and its market activities 
was brought to the Board’s attention. 
 
Renewal of the Chairman’s term of office was agreed at the Board meeting held immediately 
following the General Meeting of shareholders on 3 May 2006. 
 
On 30 June 2006, the Board examined the accounting position, changes in the budget, the 
trend displayed by the provisional results and the management report on financial affairs. This 
Board meeting authorised the issue of short-term securities in the form of US commercial 
paper. The term of office of one of the Censors was renewed at this same meeting. 
 
The purpose of the meeting of 15 September was essentially to examine the consolidated and 
company financial statements for the six months to 30 June 2006. 
 
The sixth Board meeting of the year was held on 27 October 2006. All topics covered at the 
June meeting were reviewed and updated. This Board meeting also co-opted a new member, 
welcomed a new permanent representative and acknowledged the change of name of the 
independent auditors. 
 
The last meeting of the year was held on 15 December 2006. The Board examined the 
accounts based on the position at 30 November, thereby providing an initial indication of the 
full-year results. Similarly, the annual budget was reviewed along with the preparation of the 
2007 budget. As a result of the District elections of October 2006, this Board meeting co-opted 
two new members. The agenda of this meeting also included the appointment of a new Vice-
Chairman. 
 
All Board meetings cover points concerning subsidiaries and investments in associates, intra-
Group financial relations, lending decisions taken by the Credit Committee and, where 
applicable, the affiliation of new Caisses Locales.  
 
The duration of each meeting varies according to the extent of the agenda and the topics 
discussed. 
 
The number of meetings may vary from one year to the next depending on the circumstances: 
for several years now, four meetings have constituted a minimum.  
 
On an exceptional basis, written consultations may be organised in the event of an emergency. 
Decisions taken in this case are repeated at the following Board meeting. 
 
2. THE INTERNAL CONTROL MECHANISM 
 
Internal control at BFCM forms part of the overall internal control mechanism applied for the 
CMCEE-CIC1 Group as described below.  
 

                                                      
1 Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Crédit Mutuel du Sud-Est, Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France and 
Crédit Mutuel Savoie-Mont Blanc 
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2.1. The Group’s overall internal control mechanism 
 
The Group has implemented, across its entire consolidation scope, an internal control 
mechanism that forms a fully integrated part of the Group’s activities. The objective of this 
mechanism is to ensure compliance with regulatory provisions, better risk management, 
security of operations and improved performances.  
 
2.1.1 A structured and independent shared mechanism 
 
The Group ensures that the mechanism implemented is adapted to its size and operations and 
the extent of the risks to which it is exposed via its activities.  
By drawing on shared methods and tools, the internal control and risk measurement system 
implemented aims in particular to: 

− exhaustively cover all the Group’s activities, 
− identify, understand, monitor and aggregate the risks in a uniform manner and on a 

consolidated basis, 
− ensure compliance with the prevailing laws and regulations and with internal 

standards, 
− ensure the proper functioning of internal processes and the reliability of financial 

information. 
 

The organisation structure put in place is essentially aimed at verifying the quality and 
completeness of the internal control system. The Group ensures, for itself and for the 
companies that it controls, that the mechanism in place is based on a set of operating 
procedures and limits that comply with the regulatory requirements and standards drawn up. It 
draws on the methods and tools defined at Group level and on generally accepted rules in 
matters of inspection and control.  
Constant efforts are made to ensure a good match between the objectives assigned to internal 
control and the resources allocated to achieving these objectives.  
 
The necessary independence of the controls is guaranteed by the absence of any operating 
responsibility among the persons who perform the controls within entities dedicated to control 
functions and by means of a reporting line that preserves their freedom of judgement and 
assessment.  
 
2.1.2. Changes in the Group’s internal control mechanism in 2006 
 
The CMCEE-CIC Group’s control mechanism was reorganised in 2006 so as to achieve two 
objectives: 

− to separate the various types of existing controls within distinct functions (periodic, 
permanent and compliance) in accordance with regulatory changes; 

− to harmonise control-related work performed within the Group by implementing a 
common organisation based notably on uniform methods and tools.  

 
Organisation of controls: split according to control types 
 

Independently of the controls exercised by the reporting line as part of their day-to-day 
activities, the exercise of controls now covers: 
− periodic controls through in-depth assignments, of an inspection nature, performed as 

part of a control cycle covering several years;  
− permanent controls for all tasks of a recurring nature exercised notably using remote 

control tools; 
− compliance controls, notably for matters relating to the application of regulatory 

provisions and internal standards.  
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A split by network / business line 
 

Within the framework of the control functions, tasks are divided between a network division 
corresponding to the retail bank and a business line division (commercial bank, market 
activities, asset management, financial services and flows, etc.) with the appointment for 
each of these of managers who perform their function at the level of the CMCEE-CIC 
Group.  

 
A shared Group support division 
 

The objective of this division, dedicated to control functions, is to:  
− develop and maintain up to standard the tools needed to ensure effective control;  
− ensure that uniform methods are applied within the various teams;  
− ensure development of the reporting tools required to monitor control operations and 

assignments and to keep the management bodies informed.  
 
Management of the mechanism: the Group Control and Compliance Committee 
 
Under the authority of a member of the executive body, the Control and Compliance 
Committee regularly brings together the Group’s managers to discuss matters relating to 
control (periodic, permanent and compliance) and risks with the following objectives: 

− to coordinate the entire control mechanism;  
− to ensure that the tasks and assignments of the various participants are 

complementary;  
− to examine the outcome of both internal and external control assignments;  
− to monitor the implementation of recommendations made to the various Group entities 

as part of these controls.  
 
The Control and Compliance Committee is also required to examine certain tasks or 
documents that are used as a reference for the Group. In 2006, it was thus required to provide 
an opinion on the Compliance Charter and on certain “framework” procedures shared by 
members of the CMCEE-CIC Group.  
 
The Committee met four times in 2006. 
 
 
2.2. Internal control procedures specific to BFCM 
 
As the Group’s holding company, owned by Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est 
Europe and the Crédit Mutuel Banks of Centre Est Europe, Sud-Est, Ile-de-France and Savoie-
Mont Blanc, BFCM manages the holdings in the Group’s specialised subsidiaries, which are all 
subject to the Group’s general internal control mechanism. 
 
Forming an integral part of the CMCEE-CIC Group, BFCM has also implemented, for the 
activities that it manages at its level, an internal control mechanism that meets the same risk 
prevention and management objectives. BFCM is the Group’s financial tool. It manages the 
Group’s cash and intervenes on the financial markets. It participates in the financing of large 
projects and is developing a financial engineering activity. BFCM is also the correspondent for 
the Group’s international partners. 
The process to bring together the market activities of BFCM, CIAL and CIC within a single 
dealing room for the CMCEE-CIC Group was completed during 2006, with the following three 
aims: 

- to refinance the entire CMCEE–CIC Group through a single cash management team, 
- to strengthen the capacity to sell markets products to clients, 
- to improve profitability based on an effective proprietary trading business. 

 
This reorganisation was accompanied by changes to the specific control function: monitoring 
methodologies were re-examined, procedures rewritten and the limits system unified. These 
are all referenced in a body of rules that is currently being finalised. 
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Markets activities are under the responsibility of a member of CIC’s Management Board. CIC’s 
Supervisory Board and BFCM’s Board of Directors approve the strategy of each business line 
(refinancing, commercial and proprietary), the allocation of capital and the monitoring of limits 
and budgets.  
Under this new mechanism, markets activities are steered by several Committees: 

- the Management Committee (weekly) defines and manages the strategy, analyses the 
activity, results, risks and compliance with limits, and coordinates operational aspects 
(information system, budget, human resources and procedures), 

- the Market Risks Committee (monthly) monitors compliance with the decisions of the 
Management Committee, validates operating limits within the general limits set by 
CIC’s Management Board and BFCM’s Board of Directors and supervises, in terms of 
risks, the markets activities of foreign branches, 

- the Credit Committee (weekly) rules on requests for credit lines within the framework 
of the delegations assigned by the CMCEE-CIC Commitments Committee. 

 
Since 2006, limits are no longer allocated separately by entity, but instead are allocated for 
CM-CIC Markets as a whole, with specific internal limits for Refinancing, Commercial and 
Proprietary trading. The total limit amounts cover market and credit risks. Counterparty risk 
limits are allocated to CM-CIC Markets by CMCEE-CIC’s Commitments Committee in 
accordance with Group standards.  
 
The internal control system draws on assignments performed by the post-markets 
departments, responsible for performing controls on the risks and results and ensuring 
accounting and regulatory control, and the market activities control department, which reports 
to the head of business line permanent control, and the compliance function.  
 
Following the example of the regrouping of markets activities in a single structure, BFCM Large 
Accounts and CIC Large Accounts have embarked on a process to combine their activities. In 
2006, while their control tasks were conducted separately, their conclusions were combined in 
a single internal control report. Harmonisation of tools and processes is under way and will 
continue in 2007. Coordination of control tasks via a single portal will be provided by the head 
of business line permanent control. 
 
With the AMF having accepted the terms of reference covering the grouping of the Group 
custodial activity under BFCM, the 15 December 2006 meeting of BFCM’s Board of Directors 
gave its agreement for BFCM to stand as guarantor for the mutual funds that will be issued by 
CM-CICAM and to authorise the setting in place of agreements with Caisse Fédérale, Caisse 
Centrale du Crédit Mutuel and CIC. The restructuring, which concerns more than 700 mutual 
funds and €50 billion, paves the way for improving the effectiveness of the resources available 
and optimisation of management of the custodian control plan. A broader work plan comprising 
120 control tasks was established. It strengthens the client risk and product risk approaches by 
implementing a controlled process for entering into new relationships and a controlled process 
for the analysis and the creation of undertakings for collective investment. It facilitates the 
exercise of comprehensive ex-post control and identification of all the risks associated with 
collective investment. 
 
The compliance measures are incorporated into a compliance manual covering both general 
principles and specific provisions put in place for BFCM’s activities. In particular, they cover the 
fundamental principles of respect for the primacy of the client’s interests and market integrity.  
 
In connection with the management of operating risks, an evaluation of operating risks arising 
from market activities was performed that resulted in the strengthening of protection measures 
available in the event of a major disaster impacting these activities. BFCM regularly updates 
the mapping of its specific risks and related valuation models.  
 
With regard to protection measures, a markets activities emergency plan was established with 
the aim of ensuring that the more critical activities can be maintained following a serious 
incident or lack of access to the premises. The new information system dedicated to the single 
dealing room is supplemented by a back-up site in Strasbourg. 
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Periodic control is exercised by Group Audit on a multi-year basis. The conclusions from these 
assignments are presented to the Control and Compliance Committee and are included in the 
annual report submitted to the French Banking Commission. Assignments may be general in 
their scope or cover specific topics. In 2006, Group Audit examined liquidity management 
within the CMCEE-CIC Group, bearing in mind that long-term issues are made exclusively 
within the scope of BFCM.  
 
 
2.3. Internal control relating to the preparation and processing of financial accounting 
information 
 
The accounting architecture 
 
The company shares an IT platform that is used by the 14 Crédit Mutuel Federations and the 
CIC banks, which includes common accounting and regulatory functionalities, covering mainly: 

− the chart of accounts, whose structure is common to all establishments managed on 
this platform; 

− the definition of automated plans and procedures that are common to all the banks 
(payment means, loans and deposits, day-to-day operations, etc.); 

− reporting tools (BAFI, feeds to consolidation software, etc.) and management tools 
(management reporting). 

 
Administration of the common accounting information system is entrusted to a dedicated 
division, Accounting procedures and plans, which is an independent unit within Caisse 
Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe’s Finance Department.  
 
In particular, this Division is responsible for: 

− managing the common chart of accounts (account creation, definition of account 
features, etc.); 

− defining common accounting procedures and plans in accordance with tax and 
regulatory requirements. To this end, and when necessary, the Division consults the 
tax authorities and the adoption of accounting plans is subject to an approval 
procedure involving various operations heads.  

 
The Accounting procedures and plans division is independent, from both a reporting and 
functional perspective, of the actual accounts preparation functions, thereby ensuring that 
there is separation between the design and administration of the accounting architecture and 
the other operations departments. 
 
Within the company, each account must be allocated to an operations department that is 
responsible for operating and controlling that account. As such, no account can be without 
ownership and must have clearly designated responsibility. 
 
The organisation and procedures in place ensure compliance with Article 12 of CRBF 
regulation no. 97-02 and guarantee the existence of an audit trail. 
 
Accounting management at BFCM is delegated to Caisse Fédérale du Crédit Mutuel Centre 
Est Europe’s Finance Department. 
 
 
The chart of accounts 
 
The chart of accounts is based on two main account types: third-party accounts, which record 
assets and receivables in respect of individual third parties, and general ledger accounts. 
 
All credit institutions managed on the common IT platform use the same chart of accounts 
(NPCI – Nouveau Plan de Comptes Interne – New Internal Chart of Accounts), which is 
managed by the Accounting procedures and plans division.  
 
This chart of accounts defines the properties of the accounts, notably concerning: 
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− regulatory attributes (relationship with the official chart of accounts for credit 

institutions – PCEC, relationship with items in the published financial statements, etc.), 
− certain tax-related features (VAT position, etc.), 
− administration features (mandatory or otherwise, mapping to the consolidation chart of 

accounts, period for which on-line transaction history is retained, head office/branch 
account, etc.). 

 
Processing tools 
 
The tools used to process accounting information essentially comprise in-house applications 
developed by the Group’s IT departments.  
There are also a number of specialised applications, both external and internal, notably 
management reporting software, software for the generation of trial balances and accounting 
statements, a file request processing utility, consolidation software (CARAT), regulatory 
statements processing software (EVOLAN), fixed asset management software and software for 
producing tax returns. 
 
Automated controls 
 
Processing of accounting files is subject to a series of automated controls prior to accounting 
entries being passed: balancing of files, file validity, updating of the audit trail for the accounts 
concerned by the accounting entry. 
 
Internal tools are used to check the movements for a given accounting day and to detect any 
anomalies. 
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Internal control in the context of the preparation of the company financial statements 
and the consolidation process  
 
Company financial statements  
 
At each closing, the accounting results are compared with projected management data as a 
means of validation. Projected management data are prepared by divisions independent of the 
accounts production departments (management reporting and budgetary control). 
 
This analysis covers the following items in particular: 

− the interest margin on interest-rate instruments (deposits, loans and off-balance sheet 
items): management reporting calculates the expected yields and costs based on 
average capital balances and then compares these with the interest actually 
recognised for a validation by individual business line; 

− commissions: using business indicators, management reporting estimates the volume 
of commissions received and payable and compares these with the accounting data; 

− overheads (staff costs and other general operating charges); 
− the cost of risk (level of provisioning and losses recognised). 

 
Consolidated financial statements 
 
The Group has a specific chart of accounts for the consolidation. Within the common IT 
system, each account in the common chart of accounts has a mapping to the consolidation 
chart of accounts. This mapping is thus identical for a given account for all companies 
managed under this chart of accounts. 
 
Consolidation of the accounts is performed using dedicated software that is one of the main 
market standards. The feed to the consolidation software (consolidation packages) is partially 
automated using an interface developed on the accounting information system that facilitates 
the automatic capture of trial balances and thus ensures that the company and consolidated 
data is consistent. 
 
The consolidation package can be transmitted by the companies only after completion of a 
number of consistency checks that are directly programmed into it. These control rules (more 
than 600 at present) are drawn up by the consolidation departments and cover a variety of 
items (change in shareholders’ equity, provisions, non-current assets, cash flows, etc.). So-
called “blocking” controls prevent transmission of the package by the subsidiary except when 
special dispensation is granted by the consolidation departments. 
 
Consistency checks with the company data are also performed by the consolidation 
department upon receipt of the packages (level of profit, interim management balances, etc.). 
 
Lastly, systematic reconciliation statements between the company data and the consolidated 
data are prepared in respect of shareholders’ equity and the profit. This process, which 
ensures consistency during the transition between these two sets of company and 
consolidated data, is performed outside the consolidation software, thereby facilitating 
validation of this consolidated data. 
 
The system is periodically enhanced to comply with regulatory changes (IFRS as from 2005) or 
to improve the reliability of accounts production (in 2006, deferred tax calculations were 
automated based on accounting package data and preparation of an IFRS cash flow statement 
was also automated). 
 
The series of procedures referred to in this report constitute the basis of the internal control 
mechanism of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Group – CIC, which includes BFCM. As 
such, they are regularly updated and enhanced.  
 
The sound management of operating risks will be further strengthened as part of the work 
undertaken to implement Basel II within the Group. 
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In particular, 2007 will be characterised by the introduction of new, complex and onerous 
regulatory reports in connection with the first production of Basel II ratios (COREP – for the 
calculation of risks and capital adequacy requirements and FINREP for prudential 
consolidation reports). The reporting and data collection tools are currently being enhanced, in 
liaison with CIC and the Confédération Nationale du Crédit Mutuel: drafting of requirements, 
purchase of a specific reporting module and development of reports using the consolidation 
software. 
 
Lastly, the Group has acquired new consolidation software that will be used in production as 
from mid-2007 (statutory and prudential consolidated reports). It will also be used for the 
consolidation of CNCM, CIC and other Crédit Mutuel groups. The CMCEE Group and CIC are 
currently populating this new tool with historical data and setting the system parameters. 
 
 
3. LIMITATION ON THE CEO’S POWERS 
 
The Board has not imposed any limitations on the CEO’s powers as defined by law and by our 
Memorandum and Articles of Association and internal regulations. 
 
 
 
 
      Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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RRIISSKK  RREEPPOORRTT  
  

This section covers notably the information required by IFRS 7 on risks relating to financial 
instruments. 

 Contents  
1- Credit risk 

2- Asset and liability management risk 

3- Equity risk  

4- Market activities risk 

5- Solvency ratio 

6- Operating risk 

7- Other risks  

1- Credit risk 

a- Procedure 
 

General organisation of credit risk management within the Group 

In accordance with the prevailing regulations, the general organisation of risk management 
makes a distinction between the credit approval mechanism and the risk monitoring and 
control mechanism. 
Risk management draws on a common framework that sets the rules used within the Group, 
credit approval procedures, levels of delegation and procedures for monitoring commitments. 
Organisation of the risk function within the Group is based on know-your-customer, risk 
assessment, the commitment decision-making process, monitoring of commitments and any 
collections. 
 
Know-your-customer 

Know-your-customer and the targeting of prospective customers draws on the close links that 
have been forged by the Group’s regional entities with their regional economic environment. 
Customer segmentation and a breakdown into several categories with regard to risk drive the 
sales and marketing search for targeted customers.  
Know-your-customer requirements are met by using a particularly well-stocked information 
system covering both external data (access to databases) and internal data (analysis of 
accounting documents, account operation and counterparty risks). 
Know-your-customer is extended to encompass the customer’s environment thanks to high-
quality sector analyses and sector documentation that is regularly updated.  
 
Decision-making and delegation of authority 

Risk assessment is based on analyses performed in accordance with formalised processes 
that take into account clearly identified parameters: in compliance with the regulations, a 
second opinion is sought above a certain commitment threshold.  
The commitment decision is distinguished depending on the market and rating concerned to 
ensure that the customer’s needs are met while at the same time managing risk-taking. In 
particular, it is based on: 
- real-time knowledge of the consolidated risks of the counterparty and of the 

counterparty group across the entire consolidation scope, 
- a weighting of products based on the credit risk type and the guarantee,  
- the customer rating, 
- sector or business line expertise, 
- clearly identified and automated delegation levels, 
- the “second look” principle, 
- authorisation cap rules based on shareholders’ equity, 
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- remuneration whose consistency with the risk profile and consumption of shareholders’ 
equity is evidenced by a grid of terms and conditions correlated to the rating. 

 
Customer rating 

The internal customer rating system, which is common to all entities in the CM-CIC group, was 
introduced at the start of 2003. The ratings are determined based on either automatic 
algorithms (Network) or manual rating grids (Corporate and Investment Banking). 
Customer ratings comply with the following general principles: 
- Uniformity: the method for determining the rating is the same for all banks within the 

Group at national level; 
- Completeness: the rating is calculated for each third party identified in the information 

system; 
- Automation: the rating is determined automatically by the information system for the 

Network; 
- Rating by market: third party customers are rated using an algorithm specific to the 

market to which they belong (private individuals, professionals, businesses, etc.) 
according to their typology as defined within the information system: for professionals 
and businesses, the algorithms take into account the counterparty’s sector of activity 
while for private individuals, the algorithm covers ten distinct segments; 

- Calculation of a rating for third party groups: calculation of a “group” rating allows the 
individual rating of each of the group components to be weighted by the overall risk 
represented by the group; 

- Uniformity of reporting: 12 ratings common to all markets have been defined comprising 
nine classes of performing customers and three classes of customers in default; 

- Downgrading: the rating is recalculated every month (primary rating) and adjusted on a 
day-to-day basis for risk events that occur (final rating). 

 
Delegated credit powers are assigned to all participants in the credit approval function, from 
the customer relationship manager to the highest decision-making bodies. These delegated 
powers are assigned based on the rating of the customer or the group to which it belongs, its 
market, the type of credit and the guarantees. Decisions that do not fall within the scope of 
branch delegations are taken within ad-hoc committees, with the more important decisions 
being taken by the Group Joint Committee. In accordance with the regulations, compliance 
with regulatory limits is systematically verified at each Committee meeting. Furthermore, 
decisions are subject to internal limits in relation to the Group’s shareholders’ equity and based 
on the rating of the counterparty or the group to which it belongs. 
 
Monitoring of commitments 

• Monitoring of commitments 

Monitoring of commitments is carried out by the national and regional entities using early risk 
detection systems, based on both external and internal criteria associated with the operation of 
the account. These criteria aim to facilitate identification and recognition of potential risks in an 
automated, systematic and exhaustive manner, prior to the appearance of any overdue 
amounts. The mechanism for monitoring large risks is organised at Group level and concerns 
the consolidated commitments of counterparties and counterparty groups across the entire 
consolidation scope. 
 

• Risk management  

Risk management aims to provide all risk participants, from the executive and decision-making 
bodies to the customer relationship managers, with a quantitative and qualitative view of their 
risks. In particular, it concerns the breakdown of the portfolio by credit type, customer type and 
rating, production, the sector and counterparty split of risks, and regular examination of 
sensitive dossiers and dossiers that are downgraded to non-performing, whether or not a 
provision has been raised. 
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• Management of non-performing customers 

The mechanism for downgrading to non-performing is automated based on regulatory criteria. 
Provisioned dossiers are regularly and systematically examined in order to maintain an 
adequate level of provisions. 
 

Collections 

Collection of receivables is organised on the basis of specific warnings at different stages of 
the life of an account and automated processes that, depending on the warning level, will 
direct the receivables concerned to amicable collection arrangements and/or legal collection.  

Collection procedures are clearly defined and cover three separate phases, i.e.: commercial 
settlement, amicable collection and, where applicable, legal collection. 

 

b- Quantitative information 
 

CUSTOMER LOANS 

 
In a generally favourable economic environment, 2006 saw a significant increase in 
outstanding balances, reflecting confirmation of the quality of the portfolio and continued tight 
control of the cost of risk. 

 
Customer loans were comprised as follows: 
 

Change 31.12.2006 31.12.2005 Relative weight

Short-term loans 
- Ordinary accounts – debit balances 5%5,157 4,998 3%

- Trade receivables 4%3,446 3,336 3%

- Cash advances 24%23,162 17,558 32%

0%- Export receivables 300 352 -15%

Medium- and long-term loans 
- Equipment loans 15%14,850 13,286 12%

- Home loans 41%39,954 31,462 27%

6%- Finance leases 5,722 5,359 7%

- Other loans 5%5,141 4,677 10%
Gross customer loans * 97,732 81,029 21% 100%

 
 
* Excluding non-performing loans, related receivables and repurchase agreements. 
 
 
 
Exposure 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Loans and advances 
Credit institutions 73,627 80,138

Customers 102,303 85,730

Gross exposure 175,930 165,868

Impairment provisions (2,349) (2,495)

Credit institutions (9) (15)

Customers (2,340) (2,480)

Net exposure 173,581 163,373
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Exposure 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Financing commitments

given

Credit institutions 1,721 2,954
Customers 28,258 24,758
Guarantee commitments

given

Credit institutions 830 1,003
10,816 9,621Customers

 
 
 
A high-quality portfolio  
 
► Well-rated customer base: on the 12 levels of the internal rating scale, customers rated in 

the top eight categories accounted for 97% of outstanding balances. 
 
► Absence of significant country risk: other than for minimal exceptions, the portfolio is 

mainly exposed to France and other OECD countries. 
 
The breakdown of performing customer loans based on our internal rating was as follows: 
 
 

31.12.2006

as a %

Breakdown of performing customer loans and advances by internal rating

A+ and A- 24%
B+ and B- 35%
C+ and C- 27%
D+ and D- 11%
E+ 

     
3% 

 
A well-diversified portfolio 
 
► Good counterparty risk diversification: the top ten customer groups (excluding inter-bank 

customers) accounted for less than 5% of total commitments at 31 December 2006. At 31 
December 2006, the CMCEE Group (shareholder of BFCM) complied with the large risks 
ratio. 

 
► Good sector diversification of commitments with an absence of significant commitments to 

any given sector: this favourable situation results from a sector risk monitoring mechanism 
covering, for example, cyclical sectors (e.g. aerospace, ships, etc.), sensitive sectors 
(automotive components manufacturers, aerospace components manufacturers, road 
haulage firms, etc.) and sectors impacted by a specific adverse event (poultry industry, 
etc.). 
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The breakdown of customer loans was as follows:  
31.12.2006 31.12.2005

as a % as a %

Breakdown of loans by type of customer

General public 57% 54%
Businesses 33% 25%
Large corporates 7% 15%
Specialised finance 2% 4%
Other 1% 2%

The breakdown of loans by type of customer is based on the Group’s French entities. 
 
 
The breakdown of customer risk by geographic area was as follows: 

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

as a % as a %

Geographic breakdown of customer risk 
France 93% 91%

Rest of Europe 5% 6%

Rest of world 2% 3%
 

 
 
Risk concentration for corporate customers: 

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Customer risk concentration 
33 Commitments exceeding €300m Number 28

7,662 4,448Loans in €m

9,295 Off-balance sheet in €m 7,416

5,543 1,319Securities in €m

62 Commitments exceeding €100m Number 39

9,749 5,667Loans in €m

12,772 9,964Off-balance sheet in €m

6,022 1,356Securities in €m
 

 
There are no large risks exceeding 25% of prudential shareholders’ equity.  
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The sector breakdown of corporate risks was as follows:   
 

31.12.2006

as a %

Breakdown of risk by sector 
Real estate 24%
IT, research and business services 23%
Manufacturing 18%

Commerce 12%
Construction 4%
Finance and insurance 6%
Transport and communication 5%
Government, education, health, social and cleaning 4%
Hotels and restaurants 2%
Agriculture 1%
Not broken down and other 1%

 
 
 
Segmentation based on French activity codes used in the Banque de France’s central risk 
reporting (French entities only). 
 
 
Sovereign risk arises in respect of the following countries: 

 

Sovereign risk (€m) 
  31/12/2006 

Balance 
31/12/2005 
Provisions 

Argentina  0.1  
Bosnia Herzegovina  0.1  
Congo  2.5 2.4 
Ivory Coast  0.1 0.1 
Gabon  3.3 2.8 
Lebanon  0.1 0.1 
Niger  0.4 0.2 
Somalia  0.3 0.3 
Venezuela  2.7 1.1 
Sovereign risk  9.6 7.0 
 
These provisions concern only balances, now non-performing, granted to State-owned bodies 
located in risky countries. 
 

 
Good control over the cost of risk 
► Non-performing receivables came to €3,494 million at 31 December 2006 compared with 

€3,636 million at 31 December 2005. These non-performing receivables represented 3.2% 
of loans granted compared with 4.3% at 31 December 2005. 

 
► The coverage ratio for non-performing loans by active provisions (excluding provisions for 

country risk and collective provisions) was 64.8% at 31 December 2006 compared with 
66.3% at 31 December 2005. 

 
► The cost of specific risk excluding collective provisions was €83 million, i.e. 0.08% of gross 

loans at 31 December 2006 (0.13% in 2005).    
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31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Risk quality 
3,494 Receivables written down individually 3,636

Provisions for individual impairment  (2,263) (2,410)

Collective provisions on receivables (76) (70)

67.0% Overall coverage ratio 68.2%
Coverage ratio (individual provisions only) 64.8% 66.3%
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INTERBANK LOANS 

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

as a % as a%

Structure of interbank outstandings by rating
 AAA and AA+ 1% 3%
AA and AA- 14% 15%
A+ and A 82% 77%
A- and BBB+ 2% 3%
BBB and below 0% 2%

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

as a % as a %

Geographic breakdown of interbank loans   

France 80% 95%
Rest of Europe 12% 3%

9% Rest of world 2%
 

 

 
DEBT SECURITIES 
The securities portfolios pertain largely to the market activities and, to a much lesser extent, to 
asset and liability management. 
 

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Carrying Carrying

  amount   amount

Debt securities 
Government securities 23,302 24,930

75,517 Bonds 57,992

Derivatives 5,141 5,626
Repurchase agreements and securities 
lending 22,250 5,998

Gross exposure 126,210 94,546
Provisions 
for impairment of securities (18) (3)

Net exposure 126,192 94,543
 

 

2 – Asset and liability management risk 

 
Function 
For each bank in the Group, the role and operating principles of asset and liability 
management are clearly defined: 
• asset and liability management is identified as a separate function from the dealing desk, with 
its own resources;  
• its primary objective is to protect sales margins from interest and foreign exchange rate 
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fluctuations and to stabilise earnings; 
• it also aims to ensure immediate and dynamic liquidity to enable the bank to meet its 
commitments and avoid any liquidity crisis; 
• it is not a profit centre but a function at the service of the bank’s profitability and development 
strategy. 
The Group’s asset and liability management unit plays an active role in defining the 
commercial policy in terms of customer terms and conditions, rules covering internal transfer 
rates and the design of new products for customers. It also ensures a permanent link is 
maintained with the network sales and marketing staff. 
 

Organisation of the activity 
For several years now the Group has operated decentralised control over the asset and liability 
management function. Group risk management procedures and limits are set out in the “Group 
asset and liability management guidelines” which is used throughout the Crédit Mutuel-CIC 
group. 
 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises on the Group’s business activity. It results from differences in interest 
rates and benchmark rates between sources and applications of funds. Analysis of interest rate 
risk also takes into account the volatility of outstandings on products with no contractual 
maturity and hidden options (early loan repayment options, loan extension options, utilisation 
of credit lines, etc.). 
Interest rate risk on all transactions arising from retail network activities is analysed and the 
residual balance sheet position is hedged globally using macro hedges. Transactions involving 
large amounts or with an unusual structure may be hedged using specific hedges. Risk limits 
are set in relation to the projected annual net banking income of each bank and of the Group. 
 
Interest rate risk is mainly monitored via two indicators: the fixed-rate shortfall after early 
repayments and sensitivity of net interest income.  
 
Breakdown of liabilities by residual maturity: 

> 5 years No fixed < 3 months > 3 months > 1 year Total

  maturity and sight < 1 year < 5 years

 
  
Liabilities 

0 0 Central banks 0 0386 386

0 0 Liabilities at fair value option 4 747 2 558 87 7 392

1 158 701 99 622Amounts due to credit institutions 42 195 16 667 38 902

Amounts due to customers 952 431 15 132 2 988 3 178 22 681

11 717 250 Debt securities 29 301 13 630 17 427 72 325

4 098 2 112 7 849Subordinated debt 30 323 1 285

 
This breakdown does not include sight accounts and borrowings. 
          

The balance sheet items shown are presented according to their contractual maturity date.  
Financial liabilities held for trading purposes are intended to be sold before their maturity. As such, a liquidity maturity 
schedule for these instruments is not relevant. 

 
Foreign exchange risk 
Each bank hedges the currency risk on customer transactions. The residual position in foreign 
currencies is very small. The Group does not hold any structural positions in foreign currencies 
with the exception of capital relating to its foreign branches.  
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3- Equity risk 
 
The equity risk incurred by the Group takes various forms. 
Equity portfolios held for trading purposes came to €2,964 million at 31 December 2006 
compared with €5,665 million at 31 December 2005 and related exclusively to market activities 
(see note 5 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements). 
Equities recognised at fair value through profit or loss by option comprised €1,456 million for 
the private equity activity and €6,662 million for investments by insurance companies (see note 
5 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements). 
Equities classified as available-for-sale assets and various investments in subsidiaries and 
associates totalled €4,375 million (including €3,856 million of investments by insurance 
companies) and €1,733 million respectively (see note 7 of the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements).  

Private equity 

The private equity activity is mainly conducted via entities operating solely in this business with 
a portfolio that is fully valued at fair value through profit or loss by option. BFCM also has some 
private equity lines. 

Investments are spread across almost 600 lines and mainly concern small- and medium-sized 
companies. Unlisted investments represent 79% of the portfolio in value terms.  

 

Risks relating to the Private Equity activity 
(excluding BFCM) 

  31/12/2006 

Amount invested Number of listed lines 94 
 Number of active unlisted lines 498 
 Number of funds invested 24 
Proprietary portfolio in € millions 1,369 
Capital managed on behalf of third parties in € millions 385 

 
 

4- Market activities risk 

 
General organisation 
The grouping of the market activities of BFCM, CIAL and CIC within a single function known as 
CM-CIC Markets, a process that began in late 2005, was completed in 2006.  
In terms of capital adequacy requirements under CAD, at the end of 2006, CM-CIC Markets 
represented 87% of the Group’s overall market risk. 
2006 was characterised by a strategic reorganisation of the activities of CM-CIC Markets, 
which is now organised into three business lines: Refinancing, Commercial and Proprietary. All 
market-making and portfolio management activities (equity/index derivatives, interest rate 
swaps and interest rate options) were discontinued or sold in 2006.  
 
Market transactions negotiated by CM-CIC Markets are traded and recorded on the balance 
sheet of BFCM for the Refinancing business line and on that of CIC for the Commercial and 
Proprietary business lines. Commercial transactions in the regional banks of CIC are also 
recorded on the balance sheet of CIC. Lastly, market transactions may also be traded and 
recorded in the foreign branches (London, New York and Singapore). 
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• Refinancing: a team dedicated to cash management refinances the activities of the retail 
bank and the subsidiaries, corporate and specialised financing, proprietary activities of the CM-
CIC dealing room and CIC’s liquidity instruments. It pursues a policy of investor base 
diversification through teams based in Paris, Frankfurt and London. 
The main products traded are money market instruments and firm interest rate and foreign 
exchange hedging instruments.  
• Commercial: the sales staff based in Paris or within the regional divisions have a unified 
range of tools and products. A dedicated technical division (CAR – conception adossement 
retournement – design, matching, turnaround) was established with the aim of seeking out the 
best price, preserving sales margins and turning around the foreign exchange and interest rate 
positions. 
• Proprietary: this activity is exercised out of two locations (Paris and Strasbourg) and involves 
ten or so activities, essentially arbitrages that can be grouped into families: equities, hybrids, 
credit (spread) and fixed income. These activities are themselves organised into specialities. 
Necessarily value creators in a context of well-controlled risks, these activities must serve as a 
platform for commercial development.  

 
Description of the control structures 
The main task of the control teams is to ensure production of the daily and periodic reports that 
cover the full results and risks borne by the different types of activities and to provide analyses 
of these reports for the management bodies responsible for monitoring the business line. 
The major change in the organisation of the market activities of CM-CIC described above was 
accompanied by changes in the related structures, a process initiated in 2005 and completed 
during 2006: 
• all market activities (front office, control and back office) report to a member of CIC’s 
Management Board, who validates the risk limits and level of shareholders’ equity allocated by 
the decision-making bodies (CIC’s Management Board or BFCM’s Board of Directors) and 
reports on the activities; 
• the units entering into transactions (front office) are separated from those responsible for 
monitoring risks and results (control) and those responsible for validation, settlement and 
making accounting entries (back office); 
• the permanent control system draws on a first-level control that involves three separate 
teams: 

- risk and results control, which validates the production and monitors results on a day-to-day 
basis; 

 - accounting and regulatory control, which is responsible for reconciling the accounting and 
management results and for regulatory aspects; 
 - legal control, which is responsible for legal aspects; 
• a second-level control involves several teams: 
- control of market activities, which reports to the permanent business line control, is 

responsible for permanent second-level control for CIC’s specialised business lines; 
- the commitments department, which verifies compliance with credit procedures and 

monitors risk balances by counterparty group; 
- the legal and tax department, which manages the CM-CIC Markets’ legal control team; 
- finance, which supervises the accounting rules, the chart of accounts and accounting and 

regulatory controls; 
- CMCEE-CIC audit, whose specialised team of inspectors performs periodic controls on 

market activities; 
• the back office is organised by product. The various teams, which are split between the two 
sites in Paris and Strasbourg, are responsible for transaction administration; 
• lastly, market activities are steered via two committees: 

- a monthly risk committee that is responsible for monitoring the strategy, results and risks 
with regard to the limits allocated by the Management Board and supervises risk aspects of 
the market activities of the foreign branches. 
- a weekly management committee that coordinates operational aspects: information system, 
budget, human resources and procedures. 
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Risk management 
The market risk limits system is based on: 
• a potential loss limit; 
• internal rules and scenarios (CAD risks and, currently being implemented, historical VaR and 
stress tests) that enable exposures to be translated into potential losses. 
Limits cover the various types of market risk (interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and issuer) 
and are divided into sub-limits by risk type for each of the activity scopes. Offsetting is not 
permitted between risk types. 
Risk monitoring takes place in terms of first-level indicators (sensitivity to various market risk 
factors), aimed mainly at dealers, as well as second-level indicators (potential losses), which 
provide a more summarised view that is directly accessible to the decision-making bodies. 
The monitoring methodologies within CM-CIC Markets were reviewed and harmonised in 2006. 
 
The main dealing room risks concern the following activities: 
• global macro: this involves taking directional and relative value positions between the various 
asset classes; 
• arbitrages on short-term rates: this mainly involves taking positions on fluctuations in the 
interest rates of the main OECD currencies (around 10 or so). The euro and the US dollar 
account for the vast majority of the risks; 
• credit/hybrids: the positions concern either securities/CDS arbitrages or credit correlation 
positions (first-to-default against CDS, CDS against equities). The portfolios of credit arbitrages 
on bonds/CDS are stable over time; 
• M&A and other equities: some 75% of the shareholders’ equity requirement under the CAD 
for equity risk arises from M&A strategies (public purchase offers and public exchange offers). 
The capital adequacy directive is particularly harsh as regards this business line: the potential 
loss calculated using the internal measure is approximately three times lower; 
• Fixed income: these positions involve curve arbitrages, usually backed by a security. Other 
arbitrages may exist between OECD sovereign securities of the same maturity but different 
issuers or the same issuer but with different maturities. 

CM-CIC Markets’ overnight cash position must not exceed a certain threshold and triggers a 
warning at a certain intermediate threshold, both thresholds having been approved by the 
Management Board. This position is managed on an individual and overall basis with BFCM, 
the Group’s refinancing entity. During 2006, the overnight position never exceeded the 
authorised threshold. At the same time, proprietary liquidity is monitored in relation to a 
maximum limit that is approved by the Management Board. 

 
Credit derivatives 
Credit derivatives are used by CM-CIC Markets and, very occasionally, by the Singapore 
branch of CIC. 
CM-CIC Markets carries the entire outstandings in its trading portfolio.  
The control mechanism incorporates these products in the credit/counterparty risk 
management and monitoring process.  
The dealing room must comply with risk limits by issuer/counterparty across all instruments, 
including CDS. Outstandings are monitored on a daily basis and managed by means of limits 
that are reviewed periodically by the bodies appointed specifically for this purpose 
(commitments committees and market risk committees).  
 

5- Solvency ratio 
 
Since 1 January 1996, market risks, mainly on interest rates, foreign exchange, equities and 
settlement/counterparty exposures relating to the banks’ trading portfolios, have been subject 
to specific shareholders’ equity requirements under the European directive on capital 
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adequacy (CAD). 
The overall shareholders’ equity requirement is thus equal to the sum of that relating to the 
credit risk on all weighted risks, excluding the trading portfolio, to market risks on the trading 
portfolio and to any that may exist in respect of large risks. 
The Group calculates the shareholders’ equity requirement relating to market risk using the 
regulatory standard model. 
 
Consolidated European Solvency Ratio (ESR) for CMCEE CIC (group shareholder of BFCM): 
 

 

 
The shareholders’ equity requirement must be higher than 8% of the weighted net risks. 
CMCEE CIC complied with the relevant regulatory ratios at 31 December 2006. More 
generally, the Group ensures that it complies with all the requirements formulated by the 
banking regulator.  
 

6- Operating risk 
 
The Group is putting in place a comprehensive operating risk management mechanism under 
the responsibility of managers, using a single set of risk guidelines and common, quantitative 
valuation methods in connection with the new prudential regulations. 

 
General policy 
 
In 2002, in connection with Basel II, CM-CIC initiated the implementation of widespread 
management of operating risks, coordinated at national level. 
In 2003, general management approved the advanced method option, the objective being to 
transform the regulatory constraint into an opportunity to enhance the collective management 
of the Group’s operating risks. As such, the mechanism being put in place notably enables the 
Group to: 

- optimise the allocation of shareholders’ equity in respect of operating risk; 
- reduce the losses arising from operating risk; 
- strengthen the business continuity plans and crisis management; 
- adjust the funding of residual risks. 

(in € millions)
Consolidated

31 December 2006

CMCEE & CIC
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 18,550.6 X

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY REQUIREMENT ON 12,085.1 CREDIT RISK (ESR) = T x 
8% 

D

TOTAL WEIGHTED RISKS 151,064.4 T
Weighted risks on balance sheet items 129,900.6 t1

 . risks weighted at 10% or 20% 7,424.5 
 . risks weighted at 50% 24,177.1 
 . risks weighted at 100% 98,299.0 

Weighted risks on off-balance sheet items 20,034.5 t2 to t4

Risks on items relating to interest rates 
or foreign exchange rates 1,129.3 t5 to t6

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY REQUIREMENTS 491.5 ON MARKET RISKS VN

Equivalent credit risk 6,144.0 

TOTAL COVERAGE RATIO 147.50% Z

Z = X / (D+VN) x 100 
11.80% Expressed as an ESR Z'

Z' = X / (T+VNx12.5) x 100

9.19% Of which, CORE TIER 1 RATIO  
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In 2005, the Group’s executive and decision-making bodies approved the general policy for 
operating risk, which sets out the strategic objectives to be taken into account in implementing 
the mechanism for operating risk management in CMCEE CIC.  
 
 
In 2006, the strategic objectives assigned to CMCEE CIC’s new development phase proposed 
that each cross-disciplinary function adopt the same organisation structure drawing on six 
regional divisions and the business line functions and subsidiaries as a means of incorporating 
the regulatory requirements arising from Basel II and CRBF regulation no. 97.02.  
Amongst other things, this led to the establishment of common periodic control, permanent 
control and compliance teams, including operating risk management, across the Group with a 
view to:  

- coordinating control initiatives;  
- capitalising on work already performed; 
- ensuring consistency of monitoring and requests vis-à-vis banking and business line 

operators. 
 

In this regard, the operating risk management team (CM-CIC group function and regional 
functions) is being reorganised to cover CMCEE CIC (banks, federations and business line 
centres) so as to respond to the new strategic objectives and to develop synergies with 
permanent control and compliance.  
 
The CM-CIC principles are naturally being taken into account in this reorganisation: fields of 
responsibility in matters of operating risk, job descriptions, etc. As such, permanent control 
now replaces internal control and quality, while periodic control replaces General Inspection. 
 
Main objectives 
 
The objectives of our operating risk management policy are to: 

− contribute to managing the Group by managing risks and their associated costs; 
− from a staff perspective, protect individuals, develop responsibility, autonomy and 

controls, capitalise on the Group’s skills; 
− from an economic perspective, preserve margins by managing as closely as possible 

our operating risks on all our activities, ensure a return on investment from compliance 
with the regulations, optimise the shareholders’ equity allocated to cost of risk and 
adapt our insurance programmes to the risks identified; 

− from a regulatory perspective, respond efficiently to Basel II and the demands of the 
supervisory authorities, draw on internal control (CRBF 97.02), strengthen the 
business continuity plans for critical activities (CRBF 2004-02), adapt our financial 
communication (pillar 3 of Basel II, the French New Economic Regulations Act and 
Financial Security Act, etc.) and apply the sound practices of Basel II (February 2003). 

 
 
Responsibility of the management bodies and periodic control 
 
The involvement of the management bodies is explicitly set out in the texts, at both regional 
and national level.  
 
At national level: 

− The Board of CNCM (decision-making body) approves the Group’s general risk policy, 
ensures that the mechanism is consistent as a whole, monitors Group operating risks 
(level, changes and business continuity plan) and ensures that the mechanism is 
audited. 

− The CEO of CNCM, supported by the CEOs of the regional groups (executive body), is 
responsible for implementing the Group mechanism and drawing up the Group’s 
general risk policy. He relies on the Group operating risk function to develop and 
coordinate the overall mechanism. 
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− CNCM’s periodic control function audits risk management in the same way as for any 
other Group function, audits the mechanisms used to measure these risks and verifies 
the effectiveness of the business continuity plans. 

 
At regional level (for each Crédit Mutuel group, CIC group and Group banks or business line 
centres): 

− The Board of Directors or Supervisory Board approves the general risk policy, 
regularly monitors the overall risk profile, is kept informed of changes in the risks and 
ensures that the mechanism is audited. 

− General management is responsible for implementing the mechanism within its scope 
and drawing up the general risk policy (key risk management principles, procedures 
and processes), while relying on the operating risk manager (regional function) to 
develop the mechanism in all activities at all levels. 

− The Group’s regional periodic control function audits risk management in the same 
way as for any other company function and verifies the effectiveness of the business 
continuity plans. 
 

Role and positioning of the operating risk management function 
 
The CMCIC group operating risk function coordinates and consolidates the entire mechanism, 
has a team devoted solely to serving the Group and directs the operating risk managers of the 
regional groups. 
The regional function, which exists in each regional group or material entity, implements the 
mechanism and ensures that its measurements are consistent with the overall mechanism. It is 
directed by the operating risk manager of the regional group. 
 
Operating risk management information system 
 
Common operating risk management tools, based on guidelines that are consistent with Basel 
II, have been developed and incorporated into the Group’s IT architecture. As such, the 
inventories of claims since 2001, the risk mappings and models and the business continuity 
plans are available to the risk managers concerned. 
 
Operating risk measurement and management mechanism  
 
Uniform risk mappings for the Group, by Basel II business line and by risk type, are prepared 
for all activities, with expert evaluations followed by probability models, notably for serious 
risks. The models are approved by the Operating Risk Technical Committee. Shareholders 
equity allocations are calculated at regional and national level. 
 
General measures for reducing operating risks comprise the following: 

− Effective preventive measures (i.e. those that cost less than the risk concerned) 
identified during mappings are implemented directly by the operations staff and via 
permanent control and quality control; 

− Protection initiatives that are focussed primarily on widespread use of business 
continuity plans for the business lines, logistics and IT for critical activities. 

A crisis management mechanism that is consistent across the Group and in keeping with that 
used in the market for interbank operations is widely adopted. 
 
Programmes for the funding of operating risks are reviewed as results are obtained from the 
assessment of “net risks” (including reduction initiatives agreed on) in accordance with the 
following principles: 

− Insure serious and major risks that can be insured by taking maximum advantage of 
the Group’s status to obtain the best investments and develop self-insurance by the 
Group below insurers’ excesses and for intra-Group risks; 

− Insure frequently occurring risks when justified, or fund them by means of a retention 
on the operating account (expected loss); 

− Serious risks that cannot be insured and the remaining balance that cannot be insured 
are covered by the prudential shareholders’ equity reserve (unexpected loss); 
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− Major risks on exchange and interbank payment systems are covered by a liquidity 
reserve fund established and allocated by system. 

 
Reporting and general management 
 
Application of the operating risk management policy and the risk profile will be monitored, as 
from 2007, using key indicators, thresholds and warnings covering the assessment of potential 
risks, changes in claims and the effectiveness of reduction and funding measures decided on.  
In the event of a variance at regional group level, the executive body will invite the entities 
concerned to analyse the causes, step up reduction initiatives and supplement the funding of 
the risk, followed by a report to the decision-making body. 
 
The allocation of shareholders’ equity will be calculated using the advanced method and 
standard method (based on the net banking income by business line). The split will take into 
account differences in the level of risk control between entities. 
 

7- Other risks 

 
Legal risk 
The Group has no exposure to any material legal risk. 
 

Industrial and environmental risk 
Not applicable within the Group. 
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ERNST & YOUNG ET AUTRESKL\1TAUDIT
Réseau KPMG

9 avenue de l'Europe Espace Européen de l'Entreprise
BP 20002

67300 SCHILTIGHEIM

41. rue Ybry
92576 Neuilly-suc-Seine Cedex

S.A.S. à capital variable minimum de e 37000

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Versailles

Commissaire aux Comptes
Membre de la compagnie

régionale de Colmar

BFCM

Exercice clos le 31 décembre 2006

Rapport des commissaires aux comptes
sur les comptes consolidés

Mesdames, Messieurs les ActioIU1aires,

En exécution de la mission qui nous a été confiée par votre assemblée générale, nous avons procédé au
contrôle des comptes consolidés de la Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel relatifs à l'exercice clos le 31
décembre 2006, tels qu'ils sont joints au présent rapport.

i

Les comptes consolidés ont été arrêtés par le conseil d'administration. Il nous appartient, sur la base de notre
audit, d'exprimer une opinion sur ces comptes.

..
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Opinion sur les comptes consolidés1.

Nous avons effectué notre audit selon les normes protèssionnelles applicables en France; ces normes
requièrent la mise en œuvre de diligences permettant d'obtenir l'assurance raisonnable que les comptes
consolidés ne comportent pas d'anomalies significatives. Un audit consiste à examiner, par sondages, les
éléments probants justifiant les données contenues dans ces comptes. Il consiste également à apprécier les
principes comptables suivis et les estimations significatives retenues pour l'arrêté des comptes et à apprécier
leur présentation d'ensemble. Nous estimons que nos contrôles fournissent une base raisonnable à l'opinion

exprimée ci-après.

Nous certifions que les comptes consolidés de l'exercice sont, au regard des règles et principes comptables
français, réguliers et sincères et donnent une image fidèle du patrimoine.. de la situation fInancière, ainsi que
du résultat de l'ensemble constitué par les personnes et entités comprises dans la consolidation.

Justification des appréciationsIl.

.,

En application des dispositions de l'article L. 823-9 du Code de commerce relatives à la justification de nos

appréciations, nous portons à votre connaissance les éléments suivants:

Votre groupe constitue, comme indiqué dans la note l de l'annexe, des provisions pour couvrir les risques
de crédit inhérents à ses activités. Nous avons examiné le dispositif de contrôle relatif au suivi des risques
de crédit, aux méthodologies de provisionnement, à l'appréciation des risques de non-recouvrement et à

leur couverture par des provisions individuelles et collectives.

Votre groupe utilise des modèles internes et des méthodologies pour la valorisation des instruments
financiers qui ne sont pas traités sur les marchés actifs, ainsi que pour la constitution de certaines
provisions et l'appréciation de la pertinence de la qualification en opérations de couverture. Nous avons
examiné le dispositif de contrôle relatif à la vérification des modèles et à la détennination des paramètres

utilisés.

Votre groupe constitue des provisions pour couvrir les engagements sociaux tel que cela est décrit dans
les notes 1 et 25 de l'annexe. Nos travaux ont consisté à examiner les hypothèses et les modalités de

calcul retenues.

t:es appréciations ainsi portées s'inscrivent dans le cadre de notre démarche d'audit des comptes consolidés,
pris dans leur ensemble, et ont donc contribué à la fonnation de notre opinion exprimée dans la première

partie de ce rapport.

'fi. Vérification spécifique

Nous avons également procédé, conformément aux no~es professionnelles applicables en France, à la
vérification des informations relatives au groupe, données dans le rapport de gestion.

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
Exercice clos le 31 décembre 2006
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Nous n'avons pas d'observation à fonnuler sur leur sincérité et leur concordance avec les comptes consolidés.

Schiltigheim et Neuilly-sur-Seine, le 30 avril 2007

Les Commissaires aux Comptes

ERNST & YOUNG ET AUTRESKMT AUDIT
Réseau KPMG

-=~::::~:::::=:~~-

Olivier OurandHenri Koenig Arnaud Bourdeille

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel
Exercice clos le 31 décembre 2006
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ASSETS Notes 31 Dec. 2006 31 Dec. 2005
in millions of euros

Cash, central banks, post office accounts - assets 4 4 021 3 919

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 65 506 68 657

Derivative hedging instruments - assets 6 1 346 722

Financial assets available for sale 7 48 950 43 149

Loans and advances to credit institutions 4 95 205 80 123

Loans and advances to customers 8 99 963 83 250

Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk 9 13 17

Financial assets held to maturity 10 6 007 1 107

Current tax assets 12a 371 195

Deferred tax assets 12b 285 304

Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 13 13 912 14 570

Investments in companies accounted for by the equity method 14 250 171

Investment property 15 987 596

Property, plant and equipment and finance leases (lessee) 16 1 441 1 377

Intangible assets 17 120 109

Goodwill 18 646 598

Total assets 339 025 298 863
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY Notes 31 Dec. 2006 31 Dec. 2005
in millions of euros

Cash, central banks, post office accounts - liabilities 19 387 0

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 20a 26 603 33 168

Derivative hedging instruments - liabilities 6 1 406 1 203

Amounts due to credit institutions 19 103 385 89 185

Amounts due to customers 21 61 080 56 880

Debt securities 22 72 029 51 415

Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk 9 121 189

Current tax liabilities 12a 177 224

Deferred tax liabilities 12b 561 494

Accrued charges, deferred income and other liabilities 23 13 361 14 104

Technical provisions on insurance policies 24 42 187 37 819

Provisions for risks and charges 25 648 658
 

Subordinated debt 26 7 137 5 742

Shareholders' equity 27 9 942 7 782

. Shareholders' equity - Group share 8 359 6 552
 - Share capital 1 302 1 302
 - Share premium 578 578
 - Consolidated other reserves 4 150 3 360
 - Unrealised or deferred gains or losses 686 368
 - Net profit for the period 1 642 944

. Shareholders' equity - minority interests 1 584 1 230

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 339 025 298 863
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT Notes 31 Dec. 2006 31 Dec. 2005
in millions of euros

Interest and similar income 29 11 913 11 582
Interest and similar charges 29 -11 251 -10 941 

Fees and commissions (income) 30 2 112 1 913
Fees and commissions (charges) 30 -797 -699 

Net profit on financial transactions 2 616 1 656
Net gains (losses) on portfolios at fair value through profit or loss 31 2 391 1 396
Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale 32 225 260

Income from or losses on other activities 33 1 065 882

       Net banking income (NBI) 5 657 4 393

Staff costs 34b -1 721 -1 663 
Other administrative charges 34c -1 146 -1 040 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 35 -135 -180 

       Gross operating income 2 656 1 511

Cost of risk 36 -90 -104 

       Operating profit 2 566 1 407

Share in net profit of companies accounted for by the equity method 14 30 23
Net gains (losses) on other assets 37 10 10

       Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2 606 1 440

Corporation tax 39 -724 -347 

       Total profit 1 883 1 093

Minority interests  240 148

       NET PROFIT 1 642 944
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in millions of euros
2006 2005

Net profit 1 883 1 093
Corporation tax 724 -347
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2 606 1 440
+/- Net charges to depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 130 181
- Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets 0
+/- Net charges to provisions -195 -124
+/- Share in profit of companies accounted for by the equity method -19 -23
+/- Net loss (gain) from investing activities -70 -126
+/- (Income) charges from financing activities
+/- Other movements 4 375 -584
= Total non-cash items included in profit on ordinary activities before tax and other adjustments 4 221 -677
+/- Cash flows from interbank transactions (*) -8 141 -3 874
+/- Cash flows from customer transactions (*) -12 392 -7 578
+/- Cash flows from other transactions affecting financial assets and liabilities (*) 126 961
+/- Cash flows from other transactions affecting non-financial assets and liabilities -971 5 168
- Taxes paid -683 -231
= Net decrease (increase) in assets and liabilities from operating activities -22 061 -5 555
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (A) -15 234 -4 791

+/- Cash flows from financial assets and investments (*) 163 318
+/- Cash flows from investment properties (*) 1 -228
+/- Cash flows from property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (*) -210 -188

NET CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (B) -45 -98

+/- Cash provided by or to shareholders (*) -168 -133
+/- Other net cash flows from financing activities (*) 12 844 4 977

NET CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (C) 12 675 4 845

IMPACT OF EXCHANGE RATE MOVEMENTS ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (D) 37 2
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A + B+ C + D) -2 567 -43
Net cash flows from operating activities (A) -15 234 -4 791
Net cash flows from investing activities (B) -45 -98
Net cash flows from financing activities (C) 12 675 4 845
Impact of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents (D) 37 2

Cash and cash equivalents - opening balance 3 501 3 544
Banks, central banks and post office accounts (assets & liabilities) 3 919 2 307
Interbank demand accounts and short-term loans/borrowings (assets & liabilities) -418 1 237

Cash and cash equivalents - closing balance 934 3 501
Banks, central banks and post office accounts (assets & liabilities) 3 634 3 919
Interbank demand accounts and short-term loans/borrowings (assets & liabilities) -2 699 -418

CHANGE IN NET CASH -2 567 -43

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Group share Minority
interests

Share Share Reserves Deferred Net Total
capital premium (1) gains/losses profit for

on AFS assets the year
(2)

Balance at 1 January 2005 1 302 578 2 713 0 791 5 384 1 057
Impact of adoption of IFRS -97 228 131 36
Balance at 1 January 2005 - pro forma 1 302 578 2 616 228 791 5 515 1 093
Net profit for the year 944 944 148
Appropriation of net profit for the previous year 791 -791
Dividends paid -109 -109 -23
Capital increase
Changes in foreign exchange translation rates 27 27 3
Changes in fair value of AFS assets (2) 140 140 17
Changes in consolidation scope 35 35 -9
Other changes 1
Balance at 31 December 2005 1 302 578 3 360 368 944 6 552 1 230
Balance at 1 January 2006 1 302 578 3 360 368 944 6 552 1 230
Net profit for the year 1 642 1 642 240
Appropriation of net profit for the previous year 944 -944
Dividends paid -139 -139 -29
Capital increase
Changes in foreign exchange translation rates -28 -28 -2
Changes in fair value of AFS assets (2) 318 318 26
Changes in consolidation scope 12 12 119
Other changes
Balance at 31 December 2006 1 302 578 4 150 686 1 642 8 358 1 584
(1) At 31 December 2006, reserves comprised the legal reserve of €82 million, statutory reserves of €786 million,
retained earnings of €1 million and other reserves of €3,281 million. 
(2) AFS: Available for sale
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
 

NOTE 1: ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND METHODS 
 
 
1.1 Basis of preparation 
 
Pursuant to EU Regulation 1606/2002 concerning the application of international accounting 
standards and to EU Regulation 1725/2003 concerning their adoption, the annual consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union as at the year-end date. Such 
IFRS comprise International Accounting Standards (IAS) together with IFRS 1 to 7 and their 
interpretation texts adopted as at that date. Summary financial statements are presented in 
accordance with CNC recommendation 2004-R.03. 
 
 
1.2 Consolidation scope and methods 
 
Consolidation scope 
 
The general principles governing inclusion of an entity in the consolidation scope are defined in 
IAS 27, IAS 28 and IAS 31. 
 
The consolidation scope comprises: 
 
- entities controlled exclusively: exclusive control is presumed to exist when the Group 
holds, directly or indirectly, a majority holding in the capital and either the majority of the voting 
rights or the power to appoint the majority of the members of the administrative, management 
and supervisory bodies, or when the Group exercises dominant influence. The accounts of 
entities controlled exclusively are fully consolidated. 
 
- entities controlled jointly: joint control arises when, in accordance with the terms of a 
contractual agreement, control of an economic activity is shared with one or more third parties 
regardless of the structure or form in which the activities are undertaken. Entities controlled 
jointly are consolidated using the proportional method. 
 
- entities over which significant influence is exercised: these are entities over whose 
financial and operational policies the Group exerts significant influence but does not have 
control. Entities over which significant influence is exercised are consolidated using the equity 
method. 
 
Entities controlled by the consolidating entity or over which it exercises significant influence, 
but which are not material in relation to the consolidated financial statements, are excluded 
from the consolidation scope. This is presumed to be the case when the entity’s total assets or 
net profit represent no more than 1% of the corresponding lines at Group level (or sub-group 
level in the case of a consolidation in stages). This quantitative criterion is relative. An entity 
may be included in the consolidation scope even though it is not material if the investment is 
considered to be of strategic interest by virtue of the entity’s activities or its expected 
development. 
 
A special-purpose entity is consolidated when the conditions defined in SIC12 are met, namely 
that the entity’s activities are carried out exclusively on the Group’s behalf, the Group has 
decision-making or management power to obtain the majority of the benefits deriving from the 
entity’s ordinary activities and the capacity to profit from the entity’s benefits, and retains the 
majority of the risks.  
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Holdings belonging to private equity companies and over which joint control or significant 
influence is exercised are excluded from the consolidation scope and are recognised at fair 
value by option. 
 

 Changes in the consolidation scope 
 
Changes in the consolidation scope during the year ended 31 December 2006 were as follows: 
 
- First-time consolidation 
A number of entities formed during 2006 and holding securities interests were fully 
consolidated: Sofiholding 3, Pargestion 3, Valimar 3, Gestunion 3, Ufigestion 3, Pargestion 4, 
Valimar 4, Gestunion 4, Pargestion 5 and Sofiholding 4. 
The following entities were included in the ACM sub-group: Partners, Massena Property, 
Massimob and SNC Foncière Massena. 
 
- Deconsolidation 

• The CIC banks became members of the Euro Information Production (EIP) EIG with 
effect from 1 January 2006. The CIC Production EIG has been dormant since that date 
and has been deconsolidated. 

• Euro-Information Développement was deconsolidated following the reduction in the 
BFCM Group’s holding in Euro-Information. 

 
- Merger 

• CM-CIC Bail absorbed Bail Ouest and CIAL Equipement on 29 September 2006.  
• CIC Information merged with Euro-Information on 10 April 2006, with retroactive effect 

to 1 January 2006. 
• Sérénis and Télévie were merged into Sérénis Vie. 
• Atout Assurance was absorbed by ICM Ré. The securities of Atout SA, held by 

Banque du Luxembourg, had previously been transferred to CIC and then to ACM 
IARD on 20 June 2006. 

 
As part of the restructuring of the CIC Group,  

• CIC Banque BRO was absorbed by CIC Banque CIO at the time of the general 
meeting held on 28 December 2006, 

• CIC Banque CIN was absorbed by CIC Banque Scalbert Dupont at the time of the 
general meeting held on 29 December 2006. 

• CIAL contributed its market activities to CIC in the form of a partial asset contribution, 
in exchange for 229,730 CIC shares. The shares were transferred to CIC by way of 
dividend, with retroactive effect to 1 January 2006. 

• Crédit Fécampois contributed its activities to Banque Scalbert Dupont following a 
decision taken by its extraordinary general meeting held on 29 December 2006, with 
retroactive effect to 1 January 2006. At 31 December 2006, Crédit Fécampois held 
3.2% of CIC Banque Scalbert Dupont - CIN. 

 
The above mergers had no impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
 
- Change of name 
Certain Private Equity entities were regrouped under the CIC Finance division and renamed as 
follows: 

• CIC Capital Développement was renamed CIC Investissement,  
• CIC Régions Expansion was renamed CIC Investissement Nord,  
• SNVB Participations was renamed CIC Investissement Est, and  
• Finances et Stratégies was renamed CIC Investissement Alsace. 

 

 - 55 -



 
 
 
Consolidation methods 
 
The following consolidation methods have been used: 
 

 Full consolidation 
 
This method consists of substituting the various assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
concerned for the value of the securities held and of recognising the share of minority interests 
in shareholders’ equity and net profit. It is applied to all exclusively-controlled entities, including 
those with a different accounts structure, regardless of whether the activity concerned forms 
part of the consolidating entity’s activities. 
 

 Proportional consolidation 
 
This method consists of including in the accounts of the consolidating entity the proportion of 
the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities represented by the interest held in the consolidated entity, 
as restated where required; minority interests are therefore not recognised. It is applied to all 
jointly-controlled entities, including those with a different accounts structure, regardless of 
whether the activity concerned forms part of the consolidating entity’s activities. 
 

 Equity method of consolidation 
 
The equity method of consolidation consists of substituting the Group’s share of the 
shareholders’ equity and net income of the equity affiliate for the value of the securities held. It 
is applied to all entities over which significant influence is exercised. 
 
 
Closing date 
 
All companies included in the Group consolidation scope close their accounts on 31 
December. 
 
 
Elimination of intra-group transactions  
 
Intra-group accounts and any profits resulting from intra-group transfers that would have a 
material impact in terms of the consolidated financial statements are eliminated. 
Intra-group receivables, liabilities, reciprocal commitments, charges and income are eliminated 
for entities consolidated using the full or proportional method. 
 
 
Translation of accounts denominated in a foreign currency  
 
Concerning foreign entities whose accounts are denominated in a foreign currency, the 
balance sheet is translated using the official exchange rate on the closing date. The 
[translation] difference arising on the capital, reserves and retained earnings is recognised in 
shareholders’ equity, under “Translation reserves”. The profit and loss account is translated 
using the average exchange rate for the year. The resulting translation differences are 
recognised directly in the translation reserve. Such differences are transferred to the profit and 
loss account in the event of the disposal or liquidation of all or part of the holding in the foreign 
entity. 
As allowed under IFRS 1, the Group opted to zero out translation reserves in the opening 
balance sheet at 1 January 2004. 
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Goodwill on acquisition 
 

 Measurement differences 
 
On the date control of a new entity is acquired, the assets, liabilities and contingent operating 
liabilities are measured at their fair value. Measurement differences corresponding to the 
variance between the carrying amount and the fair value are recognised. 
 

 Goodwill on acquisition 
 
In compliance with IFRS 3, on the date control of a new entity is acquired, the assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities are measured at their fair value. The difference between the price paid 
for the securities and the total valuation of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
constitutes the goodwill. If goodwill is positive, it is recorded as an asset, and if it is negative, it 
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, in “Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill”.  
 
If the Group’s percentage holding in a controlled entity is increased, the difference between the 
acquisition cost of the securities and the incremental share of consolidated shareholders’ 
equity represented by such securities on the acquisition date is recognised under 
shareholders’ equity. 
 
The Group regularly tests goodwill for impairment, at least once each year. These tests are 
intended to ensure that such goodwill has not experienced any permanent impairment. If the 
recoverable value of the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the goodwill is allocated is less 
than its carrying amount, the difference is recognised as impairment. This impairment, 
recognised in profit or loss, is irreversible. In practice, the Group’s CGUs are its various 
business lines. 
 

 
1.3 Accounting principles and methods 
 
IFRS offer a choice of accounting methods in certain areas. The main options adopted by the 
Group concern: 
• use of fair value or remeasurement as the presumed cost for non-current assets at the time 
of transition: this option may be applied to any tangible or intangible non-current asset that 
satisfies the remeasurement criteria, or to any investment property stated on a cost basis. The 
Group chose not to adopt this option; 
• immediate recognition in shareholders’ equity of actuarial differences linked to employee 
benefits has not been applied by the Group; 
the Group has opted to zero out translation reserves in the opening balance sheet on 1 
January 2004, as permitted by IFRS 1. 
• measurement at market price of certain liabilities issued by the enterprise that are not 
included in a trading portfolio. In June 2005, the IASB published an amendment to IAS 39 
"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement", setting out the conditions for use of 
the “fair value through profit or loss” option for financial assets and liabilities, which was 
adopted by the European Union on 15 November 2005. The Group adopted this option with 
effect from 1 January 2005; 
• the eligibility for fair-value hedging relationships of macrohedging transactions entered into in 
the context of the asset-liability management of fixed-rate positions (notably including customer 
demand deposits) authorised by EU Regulation 2086/2004 has been applied by the Group. 
 
 
1.3.1 Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are fixed- or determinable-income financial assets not listed on an 
active market. They include loans granted directly or the bank’s share of syndicated loans, 
loans acquired and unlisted debt securities. When first recorded on the balance sheet, they are 
recognised at their market value, which is generally the net amount disbursed. The rates 
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applied are presumed to be market rates in that the rate scales are constantly adjusted as a 
function, in particular, of the rates applied by the large majority of competitor institutions. At 
subsequent period ends, they are measured at their amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method (other than those recognised using the fair value by option method). 
All commissions received or paid relating directly to the setting in place of the loan and 
resembling interest are spread over the life of the loan in accordance with the effective interest 
rate method and are recorded in the profit and loss account among interest items. 
 
The fair value of credits is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements on each closing 
date: it comprises the present value of projected future cash flows discounted using a zero-
coupon interest rate curve, which does not include the signature cost inherent to the debtor. 
 
 
1.3.2 Provisions for impairment of loans and receivables, loan commitments and 

guarantees  
 

 Provision for impairment of individual loans and receivables 
 
Impairment is recognised once there is objective evidence of the existence of an event 
occurring subsequent to the loan – or group of loans – being set in place that is likely to 
generate a loss. An analysis is performed on a contract-by-contract basis at each period end. 
The amount of impairment is equal to the difference between the carrying amount and the 
present value of the projected future cash flows discounted at the original interest rate on the 
loan, taking into account any guarantees. For variable rate loans, the last known contractual 
rate is used.  
The existence of maturities overdue for more than 3 months, 6 months for mortgages and 9 
months for local governments represents objective evidence of a loss event. Similarly, 
objective indication of loss is identified when it is probable that the debtor will not be able to 
repay all the amounts due or when a default event has taken place or in the event of a court-
ordered liquidation. 
Impairment is recognised in the form of a provision, and all corresponding charges and 
recoveries are reflected in the cost of risk with the exception of the portion relating to the 
impact of the passage of time associated with the discounting mechanism, which is recognised 
as interest income. The provision is deducted from the asset for the impairment of loans and is 
recognised as a liability among provisions for risks on loan commitments and guarantee 
obligations. 
Irrecoverable receivables are written off and the corresponding provisions are written back. 
 

 Collective provisions for loans and receivables 
 

All loans to customers not written down for impairment on an individual basis are subject to an 
impairment provision by homogeneous portfolios of loans in the event of an observed erosion 
of internal or external ratings, based on the actual loss rate and the probability of default to 
maturity observed internally and externally applied to the level of loan outstandings. This 
provision is recognised as a deduction from the corresponding assets in the balance sheet and 
changes during the period are recognised in cost of risk in the profit and loss account. 
 
 
1.3.3 Leases 
 
A lease is an agreement under which the lessor grants to the lessee, for a predetermined 
period, the right to use an asset in exchange for a payment or series of payments. 
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A finance lease is a lease under which virtually all of the risks and benefits inherent in 
ownership of an asset are transferred to the lessee. Ownership of the asset may eventually be 
transferred. 
 
An operating lease is any lease that is not a finance lease. 
 

 Finance leases - lessor 
 
In accordance with IAS 17, finance lease transactions with non-Group companies are reported 
on the consolidated balance sheet at their financial accounting amount.  
 
Analysis of the economic substance of transactions results, in the accounts of the lessor, in:  

 recognition of a financial receivable due from the customer, amortised by the lease 
payments received; 

 breakdown of the lease payments between interest and the amortisation of the 
principal, known as financial amortisation; 

 recognition of a net unrealised reserve, equal to the difference between: 
- the net financial outstanding: the amount due by the lessee, 

comprising the remaining capital due and accrued interest at the 
closing date; 

- the net carrying amount of the leased non-current assets; 
- the deferred tax provision. 

 
 Finance leases - lessee 

 
In accordance with IAS 17, the non-current assets concerned are recorded on the balance 
sheet and the borrowing from credit institutions is recorded as a liability. Lease payments are 
broken down between interest expense and repayment of principal. 
 
 
1.3.4 Securities acquired 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

 Classification  
 
The category of “Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss” 
comprises:  
 

a)  Financial instruments held for trading purposes. These concern primarily instruments 
which:  
a. were acquired to be resold or repurchased in the short term, or which  
b. are incorporated into a portfolio of financial instruments managed on an overall 

basis for which there exists an effective and recent schedule for the taking of 
short-term gains, or which  

c. constitute an unqualified derivative hedging instrument;  
 

b) Financial instruments classified by choice from the outset at fair value through profit or 
loss pursuant to the option provided by IAS 39, for which the conditions of application 
were specified by the amendment published in June 2005. The application of the fair 
value option is intended to produce more pertinent financial information, with notably: 
a. measurement at fair value of certain composite financial instruments without 

separation of any embedded derivatives for which separate measurement would 
not have been sufficiently accurate; 

b. a significant reduction in distortions of accounting methods between certain assets 
and liabilities; 

c. management and tracking of the performances of a group of assets and/or 
liabilities constituted as part of a risk management or investment strategy is carried 
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out at fair value. In particular, this category includes private equity securities and 
balance sheet items relating to market activities. 

 
The Group has used this option in particular for unit-of-account insurance policies, for 
consistency with the treatment applied to liabilities, and for private equity securities and 
certain liabilities issued that contain embedded derivatives. 

 
 Embedded derivatives  

 
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that, when separated from its 
host contract, meets the definition criteria for a derivative. It has the effect, notably, of changing 
certain cash flows in a manner analogous to an independent derivative.  
 
The derivative is detached from the host contract and recognised separately as a derivative 
instrument at fair value through profit or loss if the following three conditions are satisfied: 

- the hybrid instrument hosting the embedded derivative is not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, 

- the economic characteristics of the derivative and the associated risks are not 
considered as being closely linked to those of the host contract, 

- separate measurement of the embedded derivative is sufficiently reliable to provide 
relevant information. 

 
 Measurement basis and recognition of income and charges  

 
Instruments classified as assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognised on the balance sheet at their fair value when they are first recorded and at all 
subsequent period ends until such time as they are disposed of. Changes in fair value and 
revenues received or accrued on fixed-income securities classified in this category are 
recorded in the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at 
fair value through profit or loss”.  
Purchases and sales of securities measured at fair value through profit or loss are recognised 
on the settlement date. Changes in fair value occurring between the transaction and 
settlement dates are recognised in profit or loss. Measurement of the counterparty risk on 
these securities is taken into account in the fair value.  
 
 

 Fair value or market value 
 
Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be exchanged or a liability extinguished, 
between informed and consenting parties, acting under normal competitive conditions. When 
an instrument is first recognised, its fair value is generally the transaction price.  
If a financial instrument is listed on an active market, the fair value is the listed price or market 
value, as this is the best estimate of its fair value.  
The listed price of an asset held or a liability to be issued is generally the proposed selling 
price (bid), while the proposed purchase price (ask) is used for liabilities held or assets to be 
acquired. 
In the event of equal and opposite asset and liability positions, only the net position is 
measured: this is calculated on the basis of the bid price if it involves a net asset or net 
liability to be issued and on the basis of the ask price if it involves a net liability or net asset to 
be acquired. 
A market is said to be active when listed prices are easily and frequently available and these 
prices represent actual and regularly occurring transactions under normal competitive 
conditions for highly similar financial instruments.  
When a market is not active, fair value is determined using measurement techniques. 
Derivative products are measured using data observable in the market (e.g. yield curves). 
The notion of bid/ask must then be applied to these observable data.  
For private equity securities, a multi-criteria approach is used, supplemented by experience in 
valuing unlisted companies. 
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 Financial assets available for sale  
 

 Classification  
 
Financial assets available for sale include financial assets not classified in loans and 
receivables or in financial assets held to maturity or at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

 Measurement basis and recognition of income and charges 
 
These assets are recognised on the balance sheet at their market value when they are 
acquired and at subsequent period ends until such time as they are disposed of. Changes in 
fair value are recorded under a specific shareholders’ equity heading entitled “Unrealised or 
deferred gains or losses”, excluding accrued revenues. These unrealised gains or losses 
recognised in shareholders’ equity are recognised in the profit and loss account only when the 
assets are disposed of or when evidence of permanent impairment is observed. On disposal, 
the unrealised gains or losses previously recognised in shareholders’ equity are transferred to 
the profit and loss account under “Net gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”, 
together with the gain or loss on disposal. Purchases and sales of securities are recognised 
on the settlement date. 
Income accrued or received on fixed-income securities is recognised in profit or loss in 
“Interest and similar income”. Dividends received on variable-yield securities are recorded in 
profit or loss under “Net gains or losses on financial assets available for sale”. 
 

 Impairment of financial assets available for sale 
 
Impairment is recognised on financial assets available for sale in the event of a prolonged 
and/or material decline in fair value relative to cost. 
Losses for permanent impairment of “Equities and other variable-yield securities” available for 
sale recorded in profit or loss are irreversible as long as the instrument is carried on the 
balance sheet. They are recognised under “Net gains or losses on financial assets available for 
sale”.  
Losses for permanent impairment of fixed-income securities available for sale, mainly 
comprising bonds, are reversible and are recognised under “Cost of risk” when they concern 
credit risk.  
 

 Financial assets held to maturity 
 

 Classification  
 
Financial assets held to maturity are fixed-income or determinable-yield financial assets that 
must be listed on an active market and that the Group has the intention and ability to hold 
until maturity and has decided not to classify as financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss or as financial instruments available for sale. The criteria concerning intention 
and ability to hold the securities until maturity are verified at each period end.  
 

 Measurement basis and recognition of income and charges 
 
These securities are recorded upon acquisition at their fair value. Transaction costs are spread 
as they are incorporated into the calculation of the effective interest rate, except when they are 
not material in which case they are recorded in the profit and loss account at the outset. At 
subsequent period ends, these securities are measured at their amortised cost in accordance 
with the effective interest rate method, which includes the actuarial amortisation of all 
premiums and discounts, corresponding to the difference between the acquisition and 
redemption values of these securities. 
Income received from these securities is presented under “Interest and similar income” in the 
profit and loss account. 
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 Impairment 
 
Impairment of financial assets held to maturity is recognised in the same manner as for loans 
and receivables when their value is affected by a credit risk.  
 

 Derivatives and hedge accounting 
 

 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives  
 
A derivative is a financial instrument: 

- whose fair value depends on interest rates, the price of a financial instrument, the price 
of a commodity, exchange rates, an index of interest rates or credit prices, or any other 
variable referred to as an underlying; 
- that requires a low net investment, or none at all, or one that is lower than for a non-
derivative financial instrument in order to obtain the same sensitivity to changes in the 
underlying; 
- that is closed out at a future date. 

Derivatives are classified among financial instruments held for trading purposes, except when 
they are part of a hedging relationship.  
 
They are recognised at their fair value on the balance sheet among financial instruments at 
fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair value and interest accrued or due are 
recognised in net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.  
 
Those hedging derivatives that meet the criteria required by IAS 39 to be qualified from an 
accounting standpoint as hedging instruments are classified in the categories “Fair value 
hedges” or “Cash flow hedges” as appropriate. All other derivatives are, by default, classified 
as trading assets or liabilities, even if from an economic standpoint they were entered into in 
order to hedge one or more risks. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that, when separated from its 
host contract, meets the definition criteria for a derivative. It has the effect, notably, of changing 
certain cash flows in a manner analogous to an independent derivative.  
 
The derivative is detached from the host contract and recognised separately as a derivative 
instrument at fair value through profit or loss if the following three conditions are satisfied: 

- the hybrid instrument hosting the embedded derivative is not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, 

- the economic characteristics of the derivative and the associated risks are not 
considered as being closely linked to those of the host contract, 

- separate measurement of the embedded derivative is sufficiently reliable to provide 
relevant information. 

 
 Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss - derivatives - structured 

products 
 

Structured products are financial structures offered to customers to more closely meet their 
specific needs. They are constructed using standard products, generally options. There are 
different categories of structured products based on the following standard products: traditional 
options, binary options, barrier options, Asian options, look-back options, options on several 
assets, and index swaps. 
There are three main types of method for measuring such products: methods based on solving 
a partial differential equation, methods employing arborescence over discrete intervals and 
Monte Carlo methods. The first and last methods are used. The analytical methods applied are 
those used by the market to model the underlyings used.  
The measurement parameters used are those observed or deduced via a standard model of 
the values observed at the period end. In the event that an organised market does not exist, 
the values used are obtained from the most active intermediaries in the corresponding 
products and/or extrapolated from listed values. A historical record is maintained of all 
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parameters used. Unlisted forward financial instruments are measured using observable 
market prices, in accordance with the so-called “snapshot” procedure, which consists of 
obtaining the bid and ask prices each day at the same time from several market players using 
computerised market data applications. A single price is retained for each useful market 
parameter. 
Certain complex financial instruments, and primarily mono- and multi-underlying barrier-
structured equity products, generally custom-built, relatively illiquid and with long maturities, 
are measured using in-house models and measurement factors such as long volatilities, 
correlations and estimates of dividends for that portion unobservable in active markets. When 
first recognised, these complex instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at the 
transaction price, which is considered to be the best indication of their market value even 
though the measurement generated by the models may be different. This difference between 
the traded price of the complex instrument and the amount obtained using the in-house model, 
generally a gain, is called the “Day one profit”. Accounting regulations prohibit the recognition 
of profits made on products measured using models and factors not observable in active 
markets, and they are thus deferred over time. When this concerns mono-underlying non-
barrier products, the margin is spread over the life of the instrument. On products incorporating 
barrier options, given the specific risks related to the management of these barriers, the profit 
is recognised upon maturity of the structured product.  
 

 Hedge accounting 
 

IAS 39 provides for three forms of hedging relationships. The choice of the hedging 
relationship is made based on the nature of the risk that is hedged. Fair value hedges provide 
hedging of exposure to changes in the fair value of financial assets or liabilities, and are used 
notably to hedge the interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities as well as demand 
deposits in the context of the options provided under European Union regulations. Cash flow 
hedges are used to hedge exposure to changes in the cash flows from financial assets or 
liabilities, firm commitments and futures transactions. They are used notably to hedge interest 
rate risk on variable-rate assets and liabilities, including their renewal, and foreign exchange 
risk on highly probable future revenues denominated in foreign currencies. One specific 
example of cash flow hedges is the hedging of net investments denominated in foreign 
currencies. 
The Group documents the relationship between the instrument covered and the hedging 
instrument from the moment the hedging relationship is set in place. This documentation 
includes the management objectives of the hedging relationship, the nature of the risk hedged, 
the underlying strategy, identification of the hedging instrument and of the item hedged, and 
the methods used to measure the effectiveness of the hedge. 
The Group evaluates this effectiveness when the hedging relationship is set in place, and 
subsequently throughout its life, at the very least at each period end.  
The ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or 
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 
Fair value hedges 
That portion corresponding to the rediscounting of the derivative financial instrument is 
recognised in the profit and loss account in “Interest income and charges – Hedging 
derivatives” symmetrically to the interest income or charges for the item hedged. 
In the case of a fair value hedge, derivatives are measured at their fair value as an offset to the 
profit and loss account in “Net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss” symmetrically to the remeasurement of the risk of the items hedged in profit or 
loss. This rule is also applied if the item hedged is recognised at its amortised cost or in the 
case of a financial asset classified as available for sale. If the hedging relationship is perfectly 
effective, the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument offsets that of the item hedged. 
The hedging relationship must be considered to be “highly effective” to qualify for hedge 
accounting. The change in the fair value or cash flow hedge must approximately offset the 
change in the value of the item whose fair value or cash flows are hedged. The ratio of these 
two changes must fall within the range of 80% to 125%. 
In the event that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are not met, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied going forward. The hedging derivatives are transferred 
to trading instruments and are recognised in accordance with the principles applicable to this 
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category. The balance sheet amount of the item hedged is subsequently no longer adjusted to 
reflect changes in fair value and the cumulative adjustments for the recognition of the hedge 
are amortised over the remaining life of the item hedged. If the items hedged are no longer 
recognised on the balance sheet due notably to early repayments, the cumulative adjustments 
are recognised immediately in the profit and loss account. 
 
Fair value hedges of interest rate risk by portfolio 
The modifications made by the European Union to IAS 39 in October 2004 enable customer 
demand deposits to be included within portfolios of fixed-rate liabilities. 
For each portfolio of assets or liabilities, the bank establishes by maturity range at each period 
end that there is no over-hedging.  
The maturities of the liabilities portfolio are established as a function of the run-off assumptions 
defined for asset-liability management purposes. 
Changes in the fair value of the interest rate risk of portfolios of hedged instruments are 
recorded in a specific line of the balance sheet “Remeasurement difference on portfolios 
hedged against interest rate risk” as an offset to the profit and loss account. 
 
Cash flow hedges 
In the case of cash flow hedging relationships, gains or losses on hedging instruments 
considered as effective are recorded in a specific line of shareholders’ equity called 
“Unrealised or deferred gains or losses on cash flow hedges” while that portion considered as 
ineffective is recorded in the profit and loss account in “Net gains or losses on financial 
instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.  
Amounts recorded in shareholders’ equity are recovered through profit or loss in “Interest 
income and charges” symmetrically to the flows of the item hedged that impact the profit and 
loss account. The items hedged continue to be recognised in accordance with the rules 
specific to their accounting category. 
In the event that the hedging relationship is interrupted or the effectiveness criteria are not met, 
hedge accounting ceases to be applied. The cumulative amounts recorded in shareholders’ 
equity for the remeasurement of the hedging derivative are maintained in shareholders’ equity 
until such time as the hedged transaction itself impacts the profit and loss account or when it is 
determined that the transaction will not take place. These amounts are then transferred to 
profit or loss.  
 

 
1.3.5 Debt securities 

 
Debt securities (short-term notes, interbank market securities, bond loans etc.) that are not 
classified at fair value through profit or loss by option are recognised at their issue amount, 
generally reduced by the transaction costs, and are measured at subsequent period ends at 
their amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method.  
Certain “structured” debt instruments may include embedded derivatives. The embedded 
derivatives are broken out from the host contracts when the criteria for separation are met and 
when they can be measured accurately.  
The host contract is subsequently recognised at its amortised cost. Fair values are calculated 
on the basis of listed market prices or measurement models.  

 
1.3.6 Subordinated debt 
 
Subordinated debt with a fixed or indeterminate maturity is separated from other debt 
securities because in the event of the issuer’s liquidation it is repaid only after the other 
liabilities have been settled. Subordinated debt is measured at amortised cost. 

 
1.3.7 Distinction between liabilities and shareholders’ equity 
 
In accordance with IFRIC 2, the interests of shareholders are classified as shareholders’ 
equity if the entity has the unconditional right to refuse to redeem such interests, or if there 
are legal or statutory provisions that prohibit or strictly limit such redemption. Under existing 
statutory and legal provisions, shares issued by the structures comprising the consolidating 
entity of the Crédit Mutuel group are recognised under shareholders’ equity. 
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The other financial instruments issued by the Group are qualified for accounting purposes as 
debt instruments if the Group has a contractual obligation to deliver cash to the holders of 
such instruments. This is the case, in particular, for all the subordinated securities issued by 
the Group. 

 
1.3.8 Provisions for risks 
 
Charges to and recoveries of provisions for risks are classified by type under the 
corresponding income and charge items. 
 
A provision is set aside when it is probable that an outflow of resources representing economic 
benefits will be necessary to extinguish an obligation arising from a past event and when the 
amount of the obligation can be estimated accurately. Where applicable, the net present value 
of this obligation is calculated to determine the amount of the provision to be set aside.  
 
The provisions constituted by the Group cover, in particular: 

 operating risks; 
 employee commitments; 
 execution risks on signature commitments; 
 disputes and liability guarantees;  
 tax risks;  
 risks related to home savings. 

 
 

1.3.9 Amounts due to customers and credit institutions 
 

These are fixed- or determinable-rate financial liabilities. They are initially recognised at market 
value and at subsequent closing dates are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, other than those that are recognised at fair value by option.  
 

 Regulated savings contracts 
 
Home Savings Accounts (Comptes Epargne Logement - CEL) and Programmes (Plans 
Epargne Logement - PEL) are French regulated products available to individual customers. 
These products provide retail investors with interest-bearing savings vehicles during a first 
phase, and grant them access to a mortgage during a second phase. They generate two kinds 
of commitments for the establishments that distribute them: 

• a commitment to pay a fixed rate of interest in the future on the savings (solely on the 
PEL, as the interest rate on the CEL is comparable to a variable rate and is 
periodically revised in accordance with an indexation formula); 

• a commitment to extend a loan based on predetermined conditions to those customers 
requesting one (on both PEL and CEL). 

These commitments were estimated on the basis of customer behavioural statistics and 
market data. A provision is set aside on the liability side of the balance sheet to cover the 
future charges related to the potentially disadvantageous conditions of these products in 
comparison with the interest rates offered to individual customers for products that are similar 
but whose conditions of remuneration are not regulated. This approach is carried out by 
homogeneous generation in terms of the regulated conditions for PEL and CEL. The impact on 
the profit and loss account is recorded as interest paid to customers.  
 
 
1.3.10 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, and deposits and demand loans and 
borrowings with central banks and credit institutions. 
For cash flow statement purposes, mutual fund holdings are classified as an “operating” 
activity and are not therefore reclassified as cash. 
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1.3.11 Employee benefits 
 
Employee benefits are recognised in accordance with IAS 19 and, where applicable, 
commitments to employees are provided for under “Provisions for risks and charges”. 
Changes in such provisions are recognised in the profit and loss account under “Staff costs”. 

 
 Post-employment defined benefits  

 
These comprise retirement, early retirement and supplementary retirement plans under which 
the Group has a formal or implicit obligation to provide employees with pre-defined benefits. 

These obligations are calculated in accordance with the projected unit credit method, which 
involves allocating the rights to benefits to periods of service by applying the contractual 
formula for calculating plan benefits. Such rights are then discounted using demographic and 
financial assumptions such as: 

- a discount rate, determined by reference to the rate on long-term government bonds 
as a function of the term of the commitments, 

- the rate of salary increases, assessed as a function of age ranges, managerial/non-
managerial classification and regional characteristics, 

- inflation rates, estimated by comparing treasury bond rates and inflation-linked 
treasury bond rates at different maturities,  

- staff mobility rates, determined by age range, using the three-year average for the 
ratio of resignations and dismissals relative to the year-end number of employees 
with open-ended contracts, 

- retirement ages: estimated on a case-by-case basis using the actual or estimated 
date of commencement of full-time employment and the assumptions set out in the 
so-called Fillon law, with a ceiling set at 65 years of age, 

- life expectancy rates set out in the INSEE table TH/TF 00-02. 

Differences generated by any changes in these assumptions and by differences between 
previous assumptions and actual experience give rise to actuarial differences. When the plan 
is funded by assets, the latter are measured at fair value and impact the profit and loss account 
for their expected yield. Differences between actual and expected yields also give rise to 
actuarial differences.  

The Group has opted to provide immediately through provisions in profit or loss any actuarial 
differences exceeding the corridor (i.e. more than 10% of the higher of the present value of the 
gross commitment in respect of plan benefits at the closing date and the fair value of plan 
assets), rather than to spread it over the residual active life of employees. Any reductions or 
liquidations of plans generate a change in the obligation, which is recognised in the profit and 
loss account for the year.  
 
Supplementary retirement plans with pension organisations 
The AFB phased agreement dated 13 September 1993 changed the retirement plans for 
banking institutions. Since 1 January 1994, banks have been members of the ARRCO and 
AGIRC national plans. The Group’s banks are members, as applicable, of four pension 
organisations that pay the various benefits set out in the phased agreement from their 
reserves, supplemented where required by additional annual contributions from the banks 
concerned that are set over the next 10 years to average a maximum of 4% of the annual 
payroll charge. The pension organisations’ commitments are comprehensively assessed every 
two years by an actuary; the most recent assessment was at end-2006. 

 
Other post-employment defined benefits 
End-of-service indemnities and supplementary retirement benefits, including special plans, are 
provisioned. They are measured on the basis of the vested rights for all active personnel, as a 
function, in particular, of the staff turnover rate specific to consolidated entities and of the 
estimated level of future salaries at the time of retirement, increased where applicable by social 
security charges. At least 60% of the cost of end-of-service indemnities for the Group’s banks 
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in France is covered by an insurance policy with ACM Vie, a fully-consolidated Crédit Mutuel 
group insurance company. 

 
 Defined contribution post-employment benefits  

 
Group entities contribute to various retirement plans managed by independent organisations, 
to which they have no formal or implicit obligation to make supplementary payments in the 
event, notably, that the fund’s assets are insufficient to meet its commitments.  
As such plans do not represent a commitment on behalf of the Group, they are not subject to 
a provision. The charges are recognised in the period in which the contribution is due.  

 
 Long-term benefits 

 
These represent benefits other than post-employment benefits and end-of-service indemnities 
payable more than 12 months following the end of the financial year in which staff rendered 
the corresponding service. They include, for example, long-service awards and overtime 
savings accounts. 
The Group’s commitment in respect of other long-term benefits is measured using the 
projected unit credit method. Actuarial differences are recognised immediately through profit or 
loss as the corridor method cannot be used. 
Certain commitments in respect of long-service awards are covered by insurance policies. 
Only the non-covered portion is provisioned. 
 

 CARMUT 
 
In addition to the mandatory retirement plans, CEE/SE/IDF group staff and, since 1 January 
2006, SMB staff also enjoy additional benefits paid by Caisse de Retraite du Crédit Mutuel 
Centre Est Europe (CARMUT), a jointly-managed pension fund organisation qualified under 
French law as a supplemental pension institution (Institution de Retraite Supplémentaire). 
CARMUT operates by capitalisation and manages two plans, a defined contribution plan in 
points and an additive-type defined benefits plan. All contributions and premiums are paid by 
the employers. At 31 December 2006, the special technical provisions recorded as a liability on 
CARMUT’s balance sheet for all participants amounted respectively to €419.2 million for the 
defined contribution plan and €57 million for the defined benefits plan. The actuarial valuation 
of the defined benefits plan is performed by an independent actuarial firm by applying the unit 
cost by year of service method. Commitments under this plan are covered in exchange for an 
annual premium charged to the employers, equal to 1.70% of total payroll and recognised in 
charges for the year. CARMUT, which is subject to the French Social Security Code, was 
created in the interests of the beneficiaries and is jointly managed. Economic benefits accrue 
solely to the affiliated members, and decision-making power, which is shared jointly by 
representatives of both management and staff, can be exercised only in the exclusive interest 
of the beneficiaries. Consequently, CARMUT is not included in the IFRS consolidation scope in 
light of the criteria for consolidation defined by IAS 27, based essentially on the notion of 
control or influence. 
 

 Early retirement 
 
A master agreement on the application in the CIC group of the early retirement measures for 
the banking industry was signed on 27 June 2001. The CIC and most of the regional banks of 
the CIC group have set this agreement in place. It allows beneficiaries to cease their 
professional activity two to three years prior to their official retirement date while receiving an 
allocation equal to between 57.5% and 65% of their salary. Employees could opt into this 
programme at any time until 31 March 2006. The total future charge was estimated for the 
entire period during which this agreement will apply. This charge is provisioned on a straight-
line basis from the date the agreement came into force (i.e. the date on which it was approved 
by the Minister of Employment) to the date from which the employee may opt into the 
programme. Given the brief period this agreement will be in effect, future cash flows were not 
discounted and provision was not made for future increases in salaries. The percentage of 
potential beneficiaries who will choose to opt into this system was estimated entity by entity.  
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 End-of-contract indemnities 
 

These indemnities constitute a benefit granted by the Group when an employment contract is 
terminated before the usual retirement age or following the employee’s decision to voluntarily 
leave the Group in exchange for an indemnity. 
End-of-contract indemnity provisions are discounted if payment is expected to be made more 
than 12 months following the closing date. 
 

 Short-term benefits 
 
These are benefits, other than end-of-contract indemnities, that are payable within the 12 
months following the closing date and include salaries, social security contributions and certain 
bonuses. 
A charge is recognised in respect of short-term benefits in the period in which the services 
giving rise to the right to receive the benefit are provided to the entity. 
 
 
1.3.12 Insurance activities 
 
The accounting principles and measurement rules relating to assets and liabilities arising from 
the issue of insurance policies, including inwards and outwards reinsurance, and financial 
contracts that include a discretionary profit-sharing clause (which grants subscribers to the 
contract the right to receive a share of the entity’s financial results in addition to any 
guaranteed remuneration) are in accordance with IFRS 4.  
 
Other assets held and liabilities issued by fully-consolidated insurance companies are 
recognised in accordance with the rules common to all Group assets and liabilities. Financial 
assets representing technical provisions relating to contracts denominated in units of account 
are therefore presented under “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and the 
asset and corresponding liability are measured on the closing date at the realisable value of 
the investment instruments concerned. 
 
Moreover, contracts subject to IFRS 4 continue to be recognised and consolidated in 
accordance with French accounting standards and are measured and recognised in 
accordance with the same rules, other than for certain limited restatements. These are, 
notably, restatements linked to the elimination of regulatory equalisation provisions and the 
recognition of deferred interests in accordance with the principles of the French regulations 
applied to asset measurement differences. They relate mainly to provisions for the deferred 
sharing of income relating to unrealised gains and losses recognised on assets in accordance 
with IAS 39 (which, according to IFRS 4, corresponds to the application of mirror accounting: to 
reflect the share of such unrealised gains and losses, the “discretionary sharing component” 
[being recognised] entirely in provisions and not in shareholders’ equity).  
 
Apart from the various provisions raised and written back in liabilities, the other transactions 
generated by these contracts are measured and recognised in accordance with the same 
rules. These relate mainly to contract acquisition costs, receivables and liabilities arising from 
the contracts, advances on policies and recourse and subrogation features resulting from 
insurance and reinsurance contracts. 
 
On the closing date, a test is performed to determine if the liabilities recognised in connection 
with the contracts (net of other related assets and liabilities such as deferred acquisition costs 
and portfolio securities acquired) are adequate to cover the estimated future cash flows on the 
same date. Any shortfall in technical provisions is recognised in the profit and loss account for 
the period, and may subsequently be written back if appropriate. 
 
The capitalisation reserve constituted free of tax in the accounts of French companies as a 
result of the sale of amortisable transferable securities, for the purpose of deferring a part of 
the net gains realised in order to maintain the actuarial return on the portfolio constituted to 
represent the contractual commitments, is cancelled on consolidation. Movements in the 
reserve during the period are recognised in the profit and loss account of the companies 
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concerned but are reversed in the consolidated profit and loss account. In application of IAS 
12, a deferred tax liability has been recognised in relation to the effective reclassification in 
shareholders’ equity of the capitalisation reserve. By contrast, if there is a strong probability 
that profits will be shared with policyholders, notably to reflect their rights in respect of certain 
insurance portfolios of certain Group entities, a deferred profit share is recognised following 
restatement of the capitalisation reserve. 
 
 
1.3.13 Non-current assets 
 
Non-current assets reported on the balance sheet include property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets used in operations and investment properties. Operating non-current assets 
are used for the production of services or for administrative purposes. Investment properties 
are property assets held to generate rental income and/or gains on the invested capital. The 
historical cost method is used to recognise both investment and operating properties. 
  
Non-current assets are initially recognised at acquisition cost plus any directly attributable 
charges required to bring them into working order with a view to being used. Finance charges 
incurred during the construction or transformation of property assets are not capitalised. 
 
Non-current assets are subsequently measured at amortised historical cost, i.e. their cost less 
accumulated depreciation and amortisation and any impairment. 
 
When a non-current asset comprises several components likely to be replaced at regular 
intervals, with different uses or providing economic benefits over differing lengths of time, each 
component is recognised separately from the outset and is depreciated in accordance with its 
own schedule. The component approach was selected for both operating and investment 
properties. 
 
The depreciable or amortisable value of a non-current asset is determined after deducting its 
residual value net of disposal costs. As the useful life of non-current assets is generally equal 
to their expected economic life, residual values are not recognised.  
 
Non-current assets are depreciated or amortised over their estimated useful lives at rates 
reflecting the holding entity’s estimated consumption of the assets’ economic benefits. 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised.  
Depreciation and amortisation charges on operating non-current assets are recognised under 
“Depreciation, amortisation and impairment provisions and writebacks for operating non-
current assets” in the profit and loss account. 
Depreciation charges on investment properties are recognised under “Losses on other 
activities” in the profit and loss account. 
 
The following depreciation and amortisation periods are used: 
 
Property, plant and equipment: 
- Land improvements    : 15-30 years 
- Buildings – shell   : 20-80 years (depending on the type of building) 
- Buildings – equipment   : 10-40 years 
- Fixtures and fittings   : 5-15 years 
- Office furniture and equipment  : 5-10 years 
- Safety equipment   : 3-10 years 
- Vehicles and moveable equipment : 3-5 years 
- IT hardware    : 3-5 years 
 
Intangible assets: 
- Software purchased or developed internally  : 1-10 years 
- Business goodwill acquired   : 9-10 years (for customer contract portfolios 
acquired) 
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Depreciable non-current assets are tested for impairment at each period end when evidence of 
loss of value is identified. Non-depreciable non-current assets such as lease rights are tested 
for impairment once each year. 
If evidence of impairment is found, the asset’s recoverable amount is compared with its net 
carrying amount. In the event of a loss of value, impairment is recognised in the profit and loss 
account, thus modifying the asset’s depreciable base going forward. Impairment losses are 
reversed in the event that the estimate of the asset’s recoverable value improves or evidence 
of impairment no longer exists. The net carrying amount following the reversal of an 
impairment provision cannot exceed the net carrying amount that would have been calculated 
if the impairment had not been recognised. 
 
Impairment charges on operating non-current assets are recognised under “Depreciation, 
amortisation and impairment provisions and writebacks for operating non-current assets” in the 
profit and loss account. 
Impairment charges and writebacks on investment properties are recognised under “Losses on 
other activities” and “Income from other activities” respectively, in the profit and loss account. 
 
Gains or losses on disposals of operating non-current assets are recorded in the profit and loss 
account on the line “Net gains on other non-current assets”. 
Gains or losses on disposals of investment properties are recorded in the profit and loss 
account on the lines “Income from other activities” and “Losses on other activities” respectively. 
 
 
1.3.14 Corporation tax 
 
The tax charge includes all taxes, both current and deferred, chargeable in respect of the 
income for the period under review. 
Current taxes are determined in accordance with applicable tax regulations. 
 
 

 Deferred taxes 
 
Pursuant to IAS 12, deferred taxes are calculated in respect of timing differences between the 
value on the consolidated balance sheet of an asset or liability and its tax value, with the 
exception of goodwill. 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with the liability method, applying the corporation 
tax rate known at the end of the period and applicable to subsequent years. 
 
Deferred tax assets net of deferred tax liabilities are recorded only when there is a high 
probability that they will be utilised Current or deferred tax is recognised as income or a 
charge, other than that relating to unrealised or deferred gains or losses recognised in 
shareholders’ equity, for which the deferred tax is allocated directly to shareholders’ equity.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if they arise in the same entity or a tax group 
subject to the same tax authority and if there is a legal right of set off.  

Deferred tax is not discounted. 
 
 
1.3.15 Interest payable by the State on certain loans 
 
In the context of measures to assist the agricultural sector and the rural economy, and to assist 
with the purchase of housing, certain Group entities grant loans at reduced rates that are set 
by the State. Such entities therefore receive State subsidies equivalent to the differential 
between the interest rate granted to the customer and a pre-determined benchmark rate. 
Accordingly, these subsidised loans are not discounted. 
 
The terms and conditions of the compensation mechanism are periodically re-examined by the 
State. 
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The State subsidies received are recognised under “Interest and similar income” and are 
spread over the term of the corresponding loans, in accordance with IAS 20. 
 
 
1.3.16 Financial guarantees and financing commitments 
 
A financial guarantee is similar to an insurance policy if it provides for a specific payment to be 
made to reimburse the holder of the guarantee for a loss incurred as the result of the failure of 
a specific debtor to make a payment on maturity of a debt instrument.  
 
In accordance with IFRS 4, such financial guarantees continue to be measured using French 
accounting standards, i.e. they are recorded off-balance sheet, until such time as the current 
standards are revised. Accordingly, they are subject to a provision for liabilities if an outflow of 
resources is probable. 
 
By contrast, financial guarantees requiring a payment to be made in the event of a change in a 
financial variable (price, rating, credit index, etc.) or a non-financial variable, provided that in 
such a case the variable is not specific to one of the parties to the contract, are covered by 
IAS 39 and are therefore treated as derivatives.  
 
Financing commitments that are not considered as derivatives within the meaning of IAS 39 
are not shown on the balance sheet. They are, however, provided for in accordance with the 
provisions of IAS 37. 
 
 
1.3.17 Transactions denominated in foreign currencies 
 
Assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the local currency are translated at 
the exchange rate ruling at the period end.  
 

 Monetary financial assets and liabilities 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from these translations are recognised in the profit 
and loss account under “Net gains or losses on the portfolio at fair value through profit or loss”. 
 

 Non-monetary financial assets and liabilities 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from these translations are recognised in the profit 
and loss account under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit 
or loss” if the item is classified at fair value through profit or loss, or under “Unrealised or 
deferred gains or losses” if the item is classified under financial assets available for sale. 
When consolidated securities denominated in a foreign currency are funded by a borrowing in 
the same foreign currency, the future cash flows relating to the borrowing are hedged. 
 
1.3.18 Non-current assets held for disposal and discontinued activities 
 
A non-current asset (or group of assets) satisfies the “held for disposal” definition criteria if it is 
held with a view to being sold and if such a sale is highly probable and will take place within 
the next 12 months.  
The related assets and liabilities are presented on two distinct balance sheet lines under, 
respectively, “Non-current assets held for disposal” and “Liabilities related to non-current 
assets held for disposal”. They are recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and their 
fair value less the costs of disposal, and are no longer depreciated or amortised. 
Any recognised impairment loss on such assets and liabilities is provided for through the profit 
and loss account. 
 
Activities are considered to be discontinued if they are intended to be sold, the activity has 
been discontinued, or if it is a subsidiary acquired solely with a view to disposal. They are 
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shown on a separate line of the profit and loss account under “Gains and losses on 
discontinued activities, net of tax”. 
 
 
1.3.19 Judgements and estimates used in the preparation of the financial statements 
 
Preparation of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2006 necessitated the 
formulation of assumptions in order to effect the required measurements, which carry risks and 
uncertainties concerning their future outcome. 
 
The future outcome of such assumptions may be influenced by several factors, in particular: 

- the activities of national and international markets; 
- changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates; 
- economic and political conditions in certain business sectors or countries; 
- regulatory and legislative changes. 

 
The accounting estimates that necessitated the formulation of assumptions are used mainly for 
measurement of the following items: 
 unlisted financial instruments measured at fair value; 
 retirement plans and other future employee benefits; 
 permanent impairment losses; 
 provisions on impaired receivables; 
 provisions for risks and charges; 
 impairment of intangible assets and goodwill. 

 
 
 
1.3.20 Standards and interpretations adopted by the European Union that have not yet 

been applied 
 

IAS / IFRS Title Application date Impact of application 
IFRS    
All IFRS adopted by the European Union have been applied by the Group 
IFRIC    
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an 

arrangement contains a lease 
Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

 

IFRIC 5 Rights to interests arising from 
decommissioning, restoration 
and environmental 
rehabilitation funds  

Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

Not applicable 

IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from 
participating in a specific 
market – waste electrical and 
electronic equipment 

Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

Not applicable 

IFRIC 7 Applying the restatement 
approach under IAS 29 
“Financial reporting in 
hyperinflationary economies”  

Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

Not applicable 

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

Not applicable 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of embedded 
derivatives 

Mandatory application 
from 1 January 2007  

Not material 

 
 

 - 72 -



Notes IFRS

The notes to the financial statements are presented in millions of euros.

NOTE 2 - Breakdown of balance sheet and profit and loss by activity and by geographic area

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by activity

ASSETS

2006 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total
banking investment banking Banking Equity holding companies

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts - Ass 275 0 2 537 248 0 961 4 021

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 723 10 094 52 186 297 1 271 935 65 506

Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 1 112 31 113 90 0 0 1 346

Financial assets available for sale 377 28 354 9 096 9 803 275 1 045 48 950

Loans and advances to credit institutions 26 353 13 65 598 1 494 3 1 745 95 205

Loans and advances to customers 83 089 296 12 718 3 525 0 336 99 963

Financial assets held to maturity 282 5 332 390 3 0 0 6 007

Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 46 71 0 0 0 132 249

LIABILITIES

2006 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and Total
banking investment banking Banking Equity holding companies

Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 0 0 387 0 0 387

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 606 4 25 270 49 0 673 26 603

Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 1 073 0 77 256 0 0 1 406

Amounts due to credit institutions 35 173 0 64 959 2 056 0 1 197 103 385

Amounts due to customers 45 911 71 3 318 11 583 0 198 61 080

Debt securities 12 726 0 58 785 18 0 500 72 029

Breakdown of profit and loss by activity

2006 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter Total

IFRS banking investment banking Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 3 109 909 888 392 335 50 -26 5 657

Overheads -2 108 -282 -321 -233 -34 -50 26 -3 001

Gross operating profit 1 001 627 567 160 302 0 2 656

Cost of risk -115 32 -5 -1 0 -90

Gains on other assets* 6 12 22 40

Profit before tax 892 638 599 155 300 21 2 606

Corporation tax -297 -209 -163 -37 -1 -17 -724

Net profit before minority interests 595 429 436 118 299 5 0 1 883

Minority interests 240

Net profit, Group share 1 643

2005 Retail Insurance Corporate and Private Private Administration and inter Total

IFRS excl. IAS 32-39 banking investment banking Banking Equity holding companies activities

Net banking income 2 974 754 58 331 248 54 -26 4 393

Overheads -2 080 -268 -289 -208 -26 -38 26 -2 882

Gross operating profit 895 486 -231 123 222 16 0 1 511

Cost of risk -124 0 23 -4 1 0 -103

Gains on other assets* 8 9 0 0 15 33

Profit before tax 779 495 -207 119 222 32 1 440

Corporation tax -251 -166 76 -24 3 14 -348

Net profit before minority interests 528 329 -131 95 225 45 0 1 093

Minority interests 149

Net profit, Group share 944

* including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

Breakdown of assets and liabilities by geographic area

ASSETS

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total

Europe Europe

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts - Ass 3 768 249 3 4 021 3 649 268 2 3 919

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 59 791 3 493 2 222 65 506 63 573 2 023 3 060 68 657

Derivative hedging instruments - Asset 1 273 71 3 1 346 697 20 5 722

Financial assets available for sale 36 729 9 755 2 467 48 950 31 439 10 430 1 280 43 149

Loans and advances to credit institutions 92 758 1 515 933 95 205 77 901 1 013 1 208 80 123

Loans and advances to customers 92 695 5 078 2 190 99 963 77 475 3 884 1 890 83 250

Financial assets held to maturity 5 662 345 0 6 007 857 249 0 1 107

Holdings in companies accounted for by the equity method 215 0 34 250 137 0 34 171

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

The activities are as follows:
• Retail banking covers the activities of the network of the regional banks and of CIC in the Paris region as well as all the specialist activities whose products are marketed through the branch network: finance leasing of goods and
property, factoring, fund management, employee savings plans, and property. 
• Insurance activities comprise the Assurances de Crédit Mutuel group and La Pérénnité.
• Corporate and investment banking covers:
a) the financing of large corporate and institutional customers, specialised financing, international activities and activities carried out through foreign subsidiaries,
b) market activities in general, i.e. involving interest rate products, foreign exchange and equities, whether on a customer's behalf or for the bank's own account, including brokerage activities.
• Private banking covers all companies whose main activity is private banking, both in France and abroad.
• Private equity activities carried out for the bank's own account and financial engineering represent a business division.
• Administration and holding companies groups all the components that cannot be allocated to any of the other divisions and logistics structures: intermediate holding companies, operating property assets held by specific entities
and IT companies.
Consolidated entities are allocated in full to their principal activity based on their contribution to the consolidated accounts. There are only two exceptions: CIC and BFCM due to their presence in several activities. In these
cases, the company accounts are broken down analytically. The balance sheet is split in the same way.
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LIABILITIES

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total

Europe Europe

Central Banks, Post office accounts - Liability 0 386 0 387 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 18 877 7 667 59 26 603 28 494 4 664 11 33 168

Derivative hedging instruments - Liability 1 168 237 1 1 406 654 547 2 1 203

Amounts due to credit institutions 110 329 -9 707 2 763 103 385 87 342 -1 154 2 997 89 185

Amounts due to customers 49 190 11 417 473 61 080 46 228 10 200 452 56 880

Debt securities 58 675 9 045 4 309 72 029 44 987 2 663 3 764 51 415

 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia

Breakdown of profit and loss by geographic area

France Rest of Rest of world * Total France Rest of Rest of world * Total

Europe Europe

Net banking income 5 169 406 82 5 657 4 021 294 78 4 393

Overheads -2 763 -193 -45 -3 001 -2 670 -172 -40 -2 882

Gross operating profit 2 406 212 38 2 656 1 351 122 38 1 511

Cost of risk -88 -7 5 -90 -119 11 4 -104

Gains on other assets** 36 0 4 40 31 0 2 33

Profit before tax 2 354 205 47 2 606 1 263 133 44 1 440

Net profit before minority interests 1 677 170 35 1 883 949 108 35 1 093

Net profit, Group share 1 455 155 33 1 642 809 103 33 944

 * USA, Singapore and Tunisia

** including net profit or loss of companies accounted for by the equity method and goodwill impairment

NOTE 3 - Consolidation scope

Method Method

Control Voting rights * Control Voting rights *

A. Banking network
Banque de l'Economie du Commerce et de la Monétique 99 99 FM 99 99 FM

Banque du Crédit Mutuel Ile-de-France (BCMI) 100 100 FM 100 100 FM

Banque CIO - BRO CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Banque de Tunisie CIC 20 18 EM 20 19 ME

Banque Régionale de l'Ouest (BRO) CIC MRG 100 93 FM

Banque Scalbert Dupont - CIN CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Bonnasse Lyonnaise de Banque (BLB) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIAL Invest (formerly CIAL Finance) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Nord ouest gestion CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Crédit Fécampois CIC 89 82 FM 89 83 FM

Crédit Industriel d'Alsace Lorraine (CIAL) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Crédit Industriel de Normandie (CIN) CIC MRG 100 93 FM

Crédit Industriel et Commercial (CIC) CIC 92 92 FM 93 93 FM

Lyonnaise de Banque (LB) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Société Bordelaise de CIC (SBCIC) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Société Nancéienne Varin Bernier (SNVB) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Sofim CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Sud Est Gestion CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

B. Banking network subsidiaries
SCI La Tréflière 46 46 EM 46 46 ME

SOFEMO - Société Fédérative Europ.de Monétique et de Financement 100 97 FM 100 98 FM

CM-CIC Asset Management (formerly Crédit Mutuel Finance) 74 72 FM 74 73 FM

Bail Ouest CIC MRG 100 93 FM

CIAL Equipement CIC MRG 100 93 FM

CIC Epargne salariale CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CM-CIC Bail (formerly Bail Equipement) CIC 99 91 FM 98 91 FM

CM-CIC Lease CIC 100 96 FM 100 96 FM

Factocic CIC 51 47 FM 51 47 FM

Imofinance CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Laviolette Financement CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Saint-Pierre SNC CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

SNVB Financements CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

C. Corporate and investment banking
Ventadour Investissement 100 100 FM 100 100 FM

Cigogne Fund CIC 100 86 FM 100 89 FM

Cigogne Management CIC 100 96 FM 100 96 FM

CM-CIC Securities CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

31 December 2006 31 December 2005

Percentage Percentage

31.12.200531.12.2006

The Group consolidating entity is Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel (BFCM).
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D. Private banking
Banque CIAL Suisse CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Banque de Luxembourg CIC 100 94 FM 100 95 FM

Banque Pasche CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Banque Pasche Monaco CIC 100 92 FM 98 91 FM

Banque Transatlantique CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Banque Transatlantique Belgium CIC 100 90 FM 100 91 FM

Banque Transatlantique Jersey CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

BLC gestion CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Dubly-Douilhet CIC 62 57 FM 63 58 FM

Mutuel Bank Luxembourg CIC 90 85 FM 90 86 FM

Transatlantique Finance CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

E. Private equity
CIC Finance CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Investissement (formerly CIC Capital Développement) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Investissement Alsace (formerly Finances et Stratégies) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Investissement Est (formerly SNVB Participations) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Investissement Nord (formerly CIC Régions Expansion) CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Lyonnaise de Participations CIC 100 91 FM 100 92 FM

Financière  Ar men CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Financière Voltaire CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Institut de Participations de l'Ouest (IPO) CIC 77 71 FM 77 71 FM

Vizille (banque de ) CIC 98 90 FM 98 91 FM

Vizille Capital Finance CIC 100 90 FM 100 91 FM

Vizille Capital Innovation CIC 100 90 FM 100 91 FM

F. Structure and logistics
Crédit Mutuel Cartes de Paiement - CMCP 45 46 EM 45 46 ME

Euro-Information 27 26 EM 16 16 ME

Euro-Information Développement N/C 33 31 ME

Adepi CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Information CIC MRG 57 60 FM

CIC Migrations CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Participations CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CIC Production GIE CIC N/C 100 93 FM

Cicor CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Cicoval CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

CM-CIC Mezzanine CIC 90 81 FM 90 82 FM

Efsa CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Gesteurop CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Gestunion 2 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Gestunion 3 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Gestunion 4 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Impex Finance CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Marsovalor CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Pargestion 2 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Pargestion 3 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Pargestion 4 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Pargestion 5 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Placinvest CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Sofiholding 2 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Sofiholding 3 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Sofiholding 4 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Sofinaction CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Sudinnova CIC 49 45 FM 49 45 FM

Ufigestion 2 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Ufigestion 3 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Ugepar Service CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Valimar 2 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

Valimar 3 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

Valimar 4 CIC 100 92 FM N/C

VTP 1 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

VTP 5 CIC 100 92 FM 100 93 FM

G. Insurance
La Pérennité 21 21 EM 21 21 ME

ACM IARD GACM 96 72 FM 96 72 FM

ACM Nord IARD GACM 49 37 EM 49 37 ME

ACM Vie GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Assurances du Sud GACM 99 74 FM 99 74 FM

Astree GACM 30 22 EM 30 23 ME

Atout Assurance GACM MRG 100 94 FM

Euro Protection Services GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Foncière ACM (formerly ACM Retraite) GACM 89 66 FM 89 66 FM

Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel (GACM) GACM 76 75 FM 76 75 FM

ICM Life GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

ICM Ré GACM 100 72 FM 100 72 FM

Immobilière ACM GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Partners GACM 100 75 FM N/C

Procourtage GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Sérénis GACM MRG 100 75 FM

Serenis Vie (formerly Télévie) GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Socapierre GACM 96 72 FM 96 72 FM

Suravenir Assurances GACM 34 25 EM 34 26 ME
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H. Other
ACM GIE GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

ACM Services GACM 100 75 FM 100 75 FM

Massena Property GACM 100 75 FM N/C

Massimob GACM 100 72 FM N/C

SA Saint Germain GACM 78 58 FM 78 59 FM

SCI Ads GACM 100 74 FM 100 74 FM

SIIC Foncière Massena GACM 94 70 FM N/C

NOTE 4 - Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts 
Loans and advances to credit institutions

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Cash in hand, balances with central banks and post office accounts

Central banks 3 747 3 648

  of which mandatory reserves 1 823 1 822

Cash in hand, post office accounts 274 271

TOTAL 4 021 3 919

Loans and advances to credit institutions

Crédit Mutuel network accounts 235 229

Other ordinary accounts 2 084 2 490

Loans 69 042 53 842

Other receivables 1 053 922

Securities not listed on an active market 291 5 276

Repurchase agreements 22 250 17 212

Receivables written down individually 20 29

Loans to affiliates 239 137

Provisions -9 -15

TOTAL 95 205 80 122

 

NOTE 5 - Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

.Securities 61 049 56 115

   - Government securities 22 763 23 466

   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 27 203 19 754

        . Listed 26 726 19 070

        . Not listed 476 684

   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 11 083 12 894

        . Listed 9 948 11 901

        . Not listed 1 135 993

. Trading derivatives 3 795 5 626

. Other financial assets 662 6 914

of which repurchase agreements 0 5 998

TOTAL 65 508 68 655

   

NOTE 6 - Derivative hedging instruments

Asset Liability Asset Liability

. Cash flow hedges 13 9 3 13

  - changes in carrying amount recognised through shareholders' equity 0 0 0 0

  - change in carrying amount through profit or loss 13 9 3 13

. Fair value hedges (change through profit or loss) 1 332 1 397 719 1 191

TOTAL 1 346 1 406 722 1 204

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

CIC = Company belonging to the Compagnie Financière CIC sub-group
GACM = Company belonging to the Groupe des Assurances du Crédit Mutuel sub-group
 
* Consolidation method:
FM = Full method
EM = Equity method
N/C = Not Consolidated
MRG = Merged
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Breakdown of derivatives

Notional Asset Liability Notional Asset Liability

Trading derivatives

 Interest rate instruments
     Swaps 353 691 1 817 2 385 607 333 1 630 1 411

     Other firm contracts 16 784 8 0 58 591 17 0

     Options and conditional instruments 48 995 246 148 48 236 195 160

 Foreign exchange instruments     

     Swaps  30 27  25 41

     Other firm contracts 159 827 717 143 737 616

     Options and conditional instruments 2 821 20 19 3 982 22 23

 Other instruments       

     Swaps 41 488 47 91 34 415 79 23

     Other firm contracts 4 799 0 5 27 642 0 0

     Options and conditional instruments 19 619 800 819 66 278 2 920 3 272

Sub-total 488 356 3 795 4 210 846 620 5 625 5 546

Hedging derivatives

  Fair Value Hedge
      Swaps 11 784 1 286 1 397 7 119 719 1 191

     Options and conditional instruments 45 47  47 0  

  Cash Flow Hedge       

      Swaps 250 11 9 82 1 13

     Options and conditional instruments 0 11  0 1  

Sub-total 12 079 1 355 1 406 7 248 721 1 204

Total 500 435 5 150 5 617 853 868 6 346 6 750

NOTE 7 - Financial assets available for sale

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

. Government securities 317 763

. Bonds and other fixed-income securities 42 281 37 841

    - Listed 42 026 37 525

    - Not listed 256 316

. Shares and other variable-yield securities 4 386 3 125

    - Listed 4 323 3 042

    - Not listed 63 83

. Long-term investments 1 720 1 145

   - Investments in associates 1 177 762

   - Other long-term investments 411 291

   - Investments in related undertakings 133 93

. Related receivables 245 276

TOTAL 48 950 43 150

of which investments in listed associates 631 419

NOTE 8 - Customer loans and receivables

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Performing receivables 92 857 76 705

. Trade receivables 4 976 4 749

. Other customer receivables 87 532 71 550

   - home-related loans 40 019 31 546

   - other loans and receivables including repurchase agreements 47 512 40 003

. Related receivables 233 172

. Securities not listed on an active market 116 235

Receivables written down individually 3 367 3 517

Provisions -2 250 -2 398

 SUB-TOTAL I 93 974 77 824

Finance leases (net investment) 5 887 5 508

. Equipment 3 754 3 403  

. Property 2 007 1 986

. Receivables written down individually 127 119

Provisions -90 -82

 SUB-TOTAL II 5 798 5 426  

. Reinsurance receivables 192

TOTAL 99 963 83 250  

of which subordinated loans 11 15

 

Finance leases with customers   

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  

Gross carrying amount 5 508 746 -354 -181 5 887   

Impairment of uncollectable lease payments -82 -30 22 5 -90  

Net carrying amount 5 426 716 -331 -176 5 798

Breakdown by maturity of future minimum finance lease payments receivable

Within 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total

Future minimum lease payments receivable 1 600 3 217 906 5 723

Present value of future lease payments 1 467 3 067 894 5 428

Unearned financial income 133 150 12 295

31.12.2006 31.12.2005
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NOTE 9 - Revaluation differences on portfolios hedged against interest rate risk
Description of assets and liabilities hedged and hedging instruments

 Fair value

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Fair value of interest rate risk by portfolio

. Financial assets 13 17 -4

. Financial liabilities 121 189 -68

  

NOTE 10 - Financial assets held to maturity

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

.Securities 6 004 1 098

   - Government securities 215 701

   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 5 788 397

        . Listed 5 439 136

        . Not listed 349 261

. Related receivables 6 12

TOTAL - GROSS 6 010 1 110

Provisions for impairment -3 -3

TOTAL - NET 6 007 1 107

 

NOTE 11 - Change in impairment provisions

31.12.2005 Charges Write-backs Other 31.12.2006

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions -15 -1 3 3 -9

Customer loans and receivables -2 398 -585 714 19 -2 250

Securities available for sale -257 -8 4 23 -238

Securities held to maturity -3 0 0 0 -3

TOTAL -2 673 -594 721 46 -2 500  

NOTE 12 a - Current taxes

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Current tax assets (through profit or loss) 371 195

Current tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 177 224

NOTE 12 b - Deferred taxes

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Deferred tax assets (through profit or loss) 277 292

Deferred tax assets (through shareholders' equity) 8 12

Deferred tax liabilities (through profit or loss) 465 420

Deferred tax liabilities (through shareholders' equity) 95 74

Change in fair value
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NOTE 13 - Prepayments, accrued income and other assets

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Prepayments and accrued income
Securities collection accounts 6 462 6 031

Currency adjustment accounts 58 74

Accrued income 535 618

Sundry accruals 1 261 1 669

Sub-total 8 316 8 392

Other assets
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 892 1 241

Other debtors 4 347 4 467

Inventories and equivalents 0 0

Sundry -9 -9

Sub-total 5 230 5 699

Other assets of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance receivables 366 226

Deposits with credit institutions 0 0

Reinsurers' shares in technical provisions 0 251

Sub-total 366 477

Total 13 912 14 568

NOTE 14 - Investments in companies accounted for by the equity method  

Share in net profit of companies accounted for by the equity method

Investment Share in net profit Investment Share in net profit

Banque de Tunisie 34 4 34 2

La Pérennité 19 1 15 1

CMCP 16 0 4

Euro-Information 116 14 46 9

Euro-Information Développement 0 0 18 3

SCI Treflière 12 0 11 0

Subsidiaries of the GACM sub-group 52 11 43 8

TOTAL 249 30 171 23

NOTE 15 - Investment property

Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance
Historical cost 677 388 -2 5 1 067

Depreciation and impairment -81 -1 1 1 -80

Net carrying amount 596 388 -1 6 987

NOTE 16 - Property, plant and equipment

Accounting method Opening balance Increase Decrease Other changes Closing balance

Historical cost

Land used in operations 293 1 1 17 313

Buildings used in operations 1 498 181 -37 37 1 680

Other property, plant and equipment 938 110 -128 -171 749

Total 2 729 293 -164 -116 2 742

Depreciation and impairment

Buildings used in operations -709 -72 28 -14 -767

Other property, plant and equipment -644 -56 47 119 -534

Total -1 353 -128 75 105 -1 301

Net carrying amount 1 376 165 -90 -11 1 441  

 

of which buildings rented under finance leases

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other Closing balance  

Land used in operations 45 0 0 0 45

Buildings used in operations 49 3 -5 0 47

Total 94 3 -5 0 92

Breakdown by maturity of future minimum finance lease payments payable

Within 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total  

Future minimum lease payments 13 26 0 39

Present value of future lease payments 13 25 0 38

Financial charges not recognised 0 1 0 1

31.12.2006 31.12.2005
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NOTE 17 - Intangible assets 

31.12.2005 Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2006

Historical cost

. Non-current assets acquired 185 17 -20 0 182

   - software 1 0 0 0 1

   - other 184 17 -20 0 181

Total 185 17 -20 0 182

Amortisation and impairment

. Non-current assets acquired -75 -3 19 6 -62

   - software -1 0 0 0 -1

   - other -75 -2 19 6 -61

Total -75 -3 19 6 -62

Net carrying amount 109 14 -1 6 120  

 

NOTE 18 - Goodwill

Opening balance Acquisitions Disposals Other changes 31.12.2005

Goodwill - gross 876 0 0 46 922

Impairment -278 0 0 2 -275

Goodwill - net 598 0 0 48 646  

Changes in goodwill, by company

Subsidiaries
Carrying amount of 

goodwill at 31 
December 2005

Increase Decrease*
Change in 
impairment

Carrying amount of 
goodwill at 31 
December 2006

Groupe CIC 517 -12 505

IPO 21 21

Pérénnité 19 19

Banque du Luxembourg 13 13

Groupe ACM 8 60 68

Banque Transatlantique 6 6

Banque Pasche 3 3

Other 10 1 11

TOTAL 597 60 -12 1 646

* Disposal of securities outside the group

 

NOTE 19 - Central banks, post office accounts   

Amounts due to credit institutions

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Central banks, post office accounts

Central banks 386 0

Post office accounts 0 0

Total 387 0

Amounts due to credit institutions

Borrowings 3 428 1 453

Other liabilities 57 166 53 236

Repurchase agreements 42 187 34 142

Related liabilities 604 355

Total 103 385 89 186  

NOTE 20 a - Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Financial liabilities held for trading purposes 19 202 21 669

Financial liabilities at fair value by option through profit or loss 7 401 11 499  

TOTAL 26 603 33 168

NOTE 20 b - Financial liabilities held for trading purposes

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

.Short sales of securities   

   - Government securities 0 0

   - Bonds and other fixed-income securities 13 208 13 707

   - Shares and other variable-yield securities 1 124 2 014

. Trading derivatives 4 210 5 546

. Other financial liabilities held for trading purposes 660 403

TOTAL 19 202 21 670
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NOTE 21 - Customer deposits

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

. Special regulated savings deposits 21 235 20 469

   - On demand 13 114 11 792

   - Term 8 121 8 677

. Liabilities associated with savings deposits 32 37

Sub-total 21 267 20 506

. Ordinary accounts 24 930 23 888

. Term accounts and borrowings 13 723 10 911

. Repurchase agreements 1 017 1 527

. Related liabilities 72 49

Sub-total 39 813 36 375

TOTAL 61 080 56 881

 

NOTE 22 - Debt securities

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Certificates of deposit 35 40

Interbank certificates & negotiable debt securities 46 509 37 111

Bonds 24 842 13 798

Related liabilities 643 466

TOTAL 72 029 51 415

  

NOTE 23 - Accrued charges, deferred income and other liabilities

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Accrued charges and deferred income
Blocked accounts on collection transactions 6 254 5 922

Currency adjustment accounts 844 273

Accrued charges 632 567

Sundry accruals 1 829 1 596

Sub-total 9 559 8 358

Other liabilities
Settlement accounts on securities transactions 935 1 864

Payments to be made on securities 35 40

Other creditors 2 751 3 670

Sub-total 3 721 5 574

Other liabilities of insurance companies
Insurance and reinsurance liabilities 0 97  

Due to credit institutions 0 70  

Security deposits and guarantees received 81 4

Sub-total 81 171

Total 13 361 14 103

NOTE 24 - Technical provisions on insurance policies

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Life 34 874 31 701

Non-life 1 793 1 681

Unit-linked 5 321 4 235

Other 199 203

TOTAL 42 187 37 820

 

NOTE 25 - Provisions for risks and charges

Opening balance Increases
Reversals for the

period (used)
Reversals for the
period (not used)

Other changes Closing balance

Provisions for retirement commitments 205 17 -67 0 -1 153

Provisions for risks 276 128 -79 0 -2 324

Other 177 57 -58 -1 -4 171

Total 658 202 -204 -1 -7 648  
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Retirement commitments and similar benefits

Opening balance Increases Reversals Other changes Closing balance

Obligations relating to defined benefit retirement plans and similar, 

excluding pension funds

   Retirement indemnities 52 8 -6 -2 53

   Top-up retirement benefits 52 3 -1 -2 52

Premiums linked to service awards (other long-term benefits) 34 1 0 -3 31

Sub-total 138 12 -7 -7 136

Top-up defined benefit retirement plans covered by the Group's 

retirement funds

   Commitments to employees and retired employees 40 0 -9 -22 9

   Fair value of assets
Sub-total 40 0 -9 -22 9

(The retirement fund assets include 35,000 CIC shares)
Commitments in respect of early retirement agreements

   Commitments 28 5 -6 -18 8

Sub-total 28 5 -6 -18 8

TOTAL

Retirement plan funding deficit Opening balance
Effect of 
discounting Financial income Partial liquidation

Change in actuarial 
gains or losses

Paid to 
beneficiaries Subsidies received Closing balance

Commitments 130 4 -6 -17 -47 64

Plan assets 109 3 -6 9 -47 3 71

Deferred actuarial gains or losses 12 12

Provision 33 4 -3 0 -26 0 -3 5

Foreign subsidiaries 6 4 -4 5 -7 4

TOTAL 39 8 -7 0 -21 0 -10 9

These figures concern only CIC - the CEE subsidiaries are covered by Carmut, a non-consolidated entity.

NOTE 26 - Subordinated debt

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Subordinated debt 3 746 3 052

Equity loans 156 156

Perpetual subordinated debt 3 147 2 423

Other debt 0 0

Related liabilities 88 111

TOTAL 7 137 5 742

Principal subordinated debt issues
 

Type Date Amount Balance at Rate Maturity

of issue issued end of period (%)
Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €85m €85m 5.75 17.11.2007

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €50m €50m 5.40 29.06.2011

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €700m €700m 6.50 19.07.2013

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable €800m €800m 5.00 30.09.2015

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Super subordinated €1,600m €1,600m  undetermined

CIC Redeemable €300m €300m * 19.07.2013

CIC Redeemable $350m $350m 30.09.2015

CIC Equity loan 28.05.85 €137m €137m ** ***

CIC Perpetual 11.06.97 €191m €191m ****

Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel Redeemable 19.12.06 €1,000m €1,000m ***** 19.12.2016

NOTE 27 - Shareholders' equity - Group share

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

. Capital 1 302 1 302  

. Consolidated reserves 4 727 3 937

   - Regulated reserves 6 6

   - Translation reserves -9 18

   - Other reserves (including impact of first-time adoption) 4 730 3 914

   - Retained earnings 1 -1

Sub-total 6 030 5 239

. Net profit for the year 1 642 944

Sub-total 1 642 944

Unrealised or deferred gains or losses* on:

- assets available for sale 686 368

- hedging derivatives (CFH) 0 0

Sub-total 686 368

TOTAL 8 359 6 552

* net of corporation tax

*     3-month Euribor + 89.5 basis points
**    Minimum 85% (average annual money market rate [TAM]+ average annual bond rate [TMO])/2; Maximum 130% (TAM+TMO)/2
***   Non amortisable but redeemable at the borrower's request as from 28 May 1997 at 130% of the nominal amount revalued at 1.5% per year for subsequent years
**** Fixed rate of 6.60% to 2007, then 3-month Euribor + 2.25%
***** 3-month Euribor + 25 basis points

The assumptions used for calculating retirement commitments and similar benefits included a discount rate equal to the long-term yield on government bonds as measured by the TEC 10 index. The differential between the discount rate and estimated
rate of future salary increases is 1.1%. This rate was 1.4% the previous year.
Employee retirement assumptions are revised each year for each country based on regulatory conditions. The AFB collective agreement for bank employees of 29 March 2005 was taken into account for this revision. The above commitments concern only
the CIC group as Crédit Mutuel's obligations are outsourced.

Annexes BFCM IFRS 31/12/2006 82



Notes IFRS

NOTE 28 - Commitments given and received

Commitments given 31.12.06 31.12.05

Financing commitments

Commitments given to credit institutions 1 721 2 954

Commitments given to customers 28 258 24 758

 

Guarantee commitments  

Commitments given to credit institutions 830 1 003

Commitments given to customers 10 816 9 621

Commitments on securities

Securities acquired under resale agreements 0 0

Other commitments given 925 1 673

Commitments given in respect of insurance activities 316 233

Commitments received 31.12.06 31.12.05

Financing commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions 1 17

Guarantee commitments

Commitments received from credit institutions 14 943 11 966

Commitments on securities

Securities sold under repurchase agreements 0 0

Other commitments received 500 1 448

Commitments received in respect of insurance activities 6 589 6 089

NOTE 29 - Interest and similar income/charges

Income Charges Income Charges
. Credit institutions & central banks 4 546 -5 163 2 726 -3 555

. Customers 3 913 -1 161 3 174 -913

. Finance leases 1 934 -1 691 1 878 -1 644

. Financial assets/liabilities at fair value by option through profit or 
loss

0 0 0  

. Hedging derivatives 732 -757 3 059 -3 271

. Financial assets available for sale 753 0 680  

. Financial assets held to maturity  34 0 66  

. Debt securities 0 -2 349 0 -1 464

. Subordinated debt 0 -130 0 -94

TOTAL 11 913 -11 251 11 583 -10 941

 

NOTE 30 - Commissions

Income Charges Income Charges
Credit institutions 8 -7 8 -6

Customers 633 -10 558 -7

Securities 719 -137 617 -77

Derivative instruments 7 -9 14 -27

Foreign exchange 24 -9 24 -12

Loan commitments and guarantee obligations 2 -3 5 -3

Services rendered 719 -622 688 -567

TOTAL 2 112 -797 1 914 -699

  

NOTE 31 - Net gains (losses) on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Trading instruments 1 943 968

Instruments at fair value by option 363 441

Ineffective portion of hedges 59 -89  

Foreign exchange gain (loss) 26 76

Total changes in fair value 2 391 1 396

of which trading derivatives 738 -1 145  

NOTE 32 - Net gains (losses) on financial assets available for sale

Dividends Gains/losses realised Impairment Total
. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 15 0 15

. Shares and other variable-yield securities 12 88 2 101

. Long-term investments 55 61 -6 110

. Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 67 163 -4 225

 

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

31.12.2006
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Dividends Gains/losses realised Impairment Total

. Government securities, bonds and other fixed-income securities 72 1 73

. Shares and other variable-yield securities 10 34 1 45

. Long-term investments 30 116 -3 143

. Other 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 40 222 -1 261

NOTE 33 - Income/charges from other activities  

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Income from other activities
. Insurance policies: 9 177 8 378

    - premiums earned 7 452 6 681

    - net investment income 1 693 1 658

    - technical and non-technical income 31 38

. Investment property: 1 1

    - gains on disposals 0 1

. Other income 146 163

Sub-total 9 321 8 542

Charges on other activities
. Insurance policies: -8 205 -7 553

    - cost of benefits -3 412 -3 135

    - changes in provisions -4 802 -4 437

    - technical and non-technical charges 8 19

. Investment property: -10 -1

    - increases in provisions/amortisation (depending on method used) -10 -1

. Other charges -41 -106

Sub-total -8 257 -7 660

Total other net income (charges) 1 065 882

(1) including conditional rent

NOTE 34 a - General operating expenses

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Staff costs -1 721 -1 662

Other charges -1 280 -1 220

TOTAL -3 001 -2 882

 

NOTE 34 b - Staff costs

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Wages and salaries -1 060 -1 002

Social security costs -466 -481

Employee profit-sharing and incentives -121 -91

Payroll and similar taxes -96 -91

Other 27 3

TOTAL -1 721 -1 662

 

Average staff  

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Banking staff 15 951 16 200

Management staff 9 295 9 364

TOTAL 25 246 25 564

NOTE 34 c - Other operating charges

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Taxes and duties (other than corporation tax) -169 -157

External services -1 000 -905

Sundry charges (transport, travel, etc.) 24 23

TOTAL -1 146 -1 039

 

 

 31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Depreciation and amortisation: -137 -171

- Property, plant and equipment -135 -167

- Intangible assets -2 -4

Impairment: 2 -9

- Property, plant and equipment -1 -8

- Intangible assets 3 -1

TOTAL -135 -180

Intangible assets include notably leasehold rights. These rights are deemed to be open-ended, and as such 

they are not amortised. They are tested for impairment in the same manner as all other non-current assets.

31.12.2005

NOTE 35 - Increases/recoveries of depreciation, amortisation and impairment of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets
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NOTE 36 - Cost of risk 

Increases Recoveries
Uncollectable 

receivables covered

Uncollectable 
receivables not 

covered

Collections of 
receivables 

previously written 
TOTAL

Credit institutions -1 4 -2 0 0 2

Customers -570 705 -211 -25 19 -82

. Finance leases -3 7 -5 -5 1 -5

. Other -567 698 -206 -20 18 -77

Sub-total -571 709 -213 -25 19 -81

HTM 0 0 0 0 0 0

AFS -4 6 -1 0 0 1

Other -69 58 0 0 0 -10

TOTAL -643 773 -214 -25 19 -90

   

NOTE 37 - Gains or losses on other assets

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 10 10

. Losses on disposals -7 -9

. Gains on disposals 17 18

Gains (losses) on disposals of consolidated securities 0 0

TOTAL 10 10

 

NOTE 38 - Changes in carrying amount of goodwill

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Impairment 0 0

Negative goodwill charged to the profit and loss account 0 0

TOTAL 0 0

NOTE 39 - Tax charge for the period

Breakdown of tax charge for the period

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Current taxes -654 -369

Deferred taxes -82 16

Adjustments for prior years 12 6

TOTAL -724 -347

 

Reconciliation of actual tax charge and theoretical tax charge

31.12.2006

Theoretical tax rate 34.4%

Impact of special tax conditions for SCR and SICOMI -3.2%

Impact of reduced tax rate on long-term capital gains -1.5%

Impact of specific tax rates at foreign entities -0.3%

Permanent timing differences -0.7%

Tax credits 0.0%

Other -0.6%

Effective tax rate 28.1%

Taxable income 2 576

Tax charge 724

NOTE 40 - Earnings per share

31.12.2006 31.12.2005

Net profit, Group share 1 642 944

Number of shares at 1 January 26 043 845 26 043 845

Number of shares at 31 December 26 043 845 26 043 845

Weighted average number of shares 26 043 845 26 043 845

Basic earnings per share 63.07 36.27

Weighted average number of shares that could be issued 0 0

Diluted earnings per share 63.07 36.27

CIC, the regional banks and all the main subsidiaries that are more than 95%-owned form a tax group. 
Each regional CIC bank that is a member of the tax group constitutes a contractual sub-group along with its own subsidiaries.
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NOTE 40 - Fair value of financial instruments measured at amortised cost

Amount at 31 December 2006 (in €m) Balance sheet Market
carrying amount value

Assets
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 95 205 95 046

   Loans and advances to customers 99 963 100 072

   Financial assets held to maturity 6 007 6 010

Liabilities
   Due to credit institutions 103 385 103 673

   Due to customers 61 080 60 589

   Debt securities 72 029 72 147

   Subordinated debt 7 137 6 971

NOTE 42 - Transactions with related parties

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

Confédération 
Nationale

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

Confédération 
Nationale

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Assets
Loans, advances and securities
   Loans and advances to credit institutions 0 10 64 361 0 0 47 054

   Loans and advances to customers 0 9 0 0 0 0

   Securities 0 166 6 0 75 0

Other assets 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total 0 185 64 367 0 75 47 054

Liabilities

Deposits
  Due to credit institutions 0 0 38 919 31 0 46 556

  Due to customers 0 0 0 51 0 0

Debt securities 0 87 0 0 5 0

Other liabilities 0 3 1 252 0 0 0

Total 0 90 40 171 82 5 46 556

Financing commitments and guarantees

Financing commitments given 0 0 0 0 0 0

Guarantee commitments given 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financing commitments received 0 0 0 0 0 83

Guarantee commitments received 0 16 138 0 0 0

Profit and loss items relating to transactions with related parties

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

Confédération 
Nationale

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Companies 
accounted for by 
the equity method

Confédération 
Nationale

CMCEE Group 
parent company

Interest received 0 1 1 776 1 358

Interest paid 0 0 -1 147 -1 013

Fees and commissions received 0 0 3 7

Fees and commissions paid -3 -16 -213 -190

Other income and charges 0 -143 8 167

Overheads 0 -3 -23

Total -3 -161 405 0 0 329

31.12.06 31.12.05

31.12.06 31.12.05

Les justes valeurs présentées sont une estimation à partir des paramètres observables au 31 décembre 2005. Elles sont issues d'un calcul d'actualisation des flux futurs estimés à partir d'une courbe de taux qui ne 
comprend pas de coût de signature inhérent au débiteur.
Les instruments financiers présentés dans cette information sont les prêts et emprunts. ils ne reprennent pas les éléments non monétaires (actions), les comptes de fournisseurs et les comptes d'autres actifs, des autres passifs et les
comptes de régularisation. Les instruments non financiers ne sont pas concernés par cette information.
La juste valeur des instruments financiers exigibles à vue et les contrats d'épargne réglementée de la clientèle est la valeur exigible par le client, c'est à dire sa valeur comptable. 
Certaines entités du groupe peuvent également appliquer des hypothèses : la valeur de marché est la valeur comptable pour les contrats dont les conditions se réfèrent à un taux variable, ou dont la durée résiduelle est inférieure ou égale à
un an. 
Nous attirons l'attention sur le fait que hormis les actifs financiers détenus jusqu'à l'échéance, les instruments financiers comptabilisés au coût amorti ne sont pas cessibles ou ne font pas dans la pratique l'objet de cession avant leur
échéance. De ce fait, les plus values ou les moins values ne seront pas constatées.
Si toutefois, les instruments financiers comptabilisés au coût amorti devaient faire l'objet d'une cession, le prix de cette cession pourrait différer significativement de la juste valeur calculée au 31 décembre.

The BFCM Group's parent company is the consolidating entity of the Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe Group composed of: FCMCEE-CFMCEE-CCMCEE + FCMSE-CRSE-CCMSE + FCMIDF-CRIDF-CCMIDF + CMH, 
together with FCMSMB-CRSMB-CCMSMB from 1 January 2006.
The Confédération Nationale is made up of Caisse Centrale du Crédit Mutuel and the other regional federations of Crédit Mutuel not affiliated to the CMCEE group.
Relations with the parent companies consist mainly of loans and borrowings in the context of cash management, BFCM being the group's refinancing body.

The fair values given here are estimates based on actual parameters as at 31 December 2006. They are based on discounted future cash flows estimated based on a yield curve that does not
take into account the debtor's inherent signature risk.
The financial instruments referred to in this note are loans and borrowings. They do not include non-monetary instruments (equity shares), trade payables, other assets, other liabilities or accrual accounts.
Non-financial instruments are not covered by this note.
The fair value of on-demand financial instruments and customers' regulated savings contracts is the amount that can be demanded by the customer, i.e. the carrying amount. 
Some group entities also apply the following assumption: the market value is the carrying amount for variable-rate contracts, or contracts with a residual maturity of one year or less. 
Please note that, excepting financial assets held to maturity, financial instruments recorded at amortised cost cannot be sold or, in practice, disposed of before maturity. Accordingly, no capital gains or
losses will be recognised.
However, if a financial instrument recognised at amortised cost were to be sold, the disposal proceeds could be significantly different to the fair value calculated as at 31 December.
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Relations with the Group's main corporate officers

Total compensation paid to the main corporate officers
€'000 Salary - Salary - Benefits- Total

fixed portion variable portion in-kind

Main corporate officers 1 076 600 10 1 686

NOTE 43 - Post-balance sheet events and other information

NOTE 44 - Risk exposure

The Board of Directors of Banque Fédérative du Crédit Mutuel is currently composed of 16 members appointed by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a term of three years and
four Censors (non-voting members) also appointed by the Board for three years in accordance with Article 20 of the Memorandum and Articles of Association. The list of members of
the Board and functions exercised in other companies is shown in the appendix as required by law. The Board includes representatives of partner Crédit Mutuel groups (Ile-de-France,
Sud-Est and Savoie-Mont Blanc) and of associated groups (Loire-Atlantique Centre Ouest, Laval, Normandy and Centre). Two employees sit on the Board as representatives of the
interfederal Works Council. There are no attendance fees or stock options. The remuneration of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer is set by the Remunerations Committee
in accordance with the conditions laid down by law. The Group's senior management may hold assets in or receive loans from Group banks, on the same terms and conditions as those
offered to all staff.

Between 31 December 2006, the accounts closing date, and the date of their publication, the only material event to occur was the acquisition of the Zurich-based private bank, Swissfirst Private Banking, by
CIC Private Banking - Banque Pasche.  Swissfirst Private Banking will be consolidated in 2007.
The consolidated financial statements of the BFCM Group for the year ended 31 December 2006 were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2007. 

The risk exposure information required in accordance with IFRS 7 is disclosed in the risk section of the management report.
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RREEPPOORRTT  OONN  TTHHEE  SSYYSSTTEEMM  UUSSEEDD  IINN  TTHHEE  FFIIGGHHTT  AAGGAAIINNSSTT  MMOONNEEYY  

LLAAUUNNDDEERRIINNGG  
 
 
 
 
The system in place to fight money laundering and the financing of terrorism has been 
considerably strengthened over the past few years. The steps taken have been aimed at 
detecting transactions that could be suspicious and avoiding all relations with clients whose 
identity and activities are poorly understood.  
 
The procedures put in place by Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe1 fit into the framework of the 
procedures developed by CMCEE-CIC, and comply with the recommendations of the Financial 
Action Task Force (FATF), prevailing legal and regulatory provisions – notably those in 
France’s Monetary and Financial Code (Code Monétaire et Financier) – and the European 
Directives and Regulations that have been transposed into French law.  
 
CMCEE applies its general obligation of diligence to meet the following objectives: 
 

  Know your customer  
- Identification, i.e. verification of the customer's identity and storage of supporting 

documents;  
- Verification that the customer is not included on official lists of terrorists or of persons 

identified as such; 
- Application of a level of vigilance appropriate to the customer’s profile and the 

transactions carried out. 
 

  Surveillance  
- Verification of the source of funds; 
- Detection of unusual transactions. 

 
  Formalisation of the obligations of diligence, and in particular  

- Analysis of unusually complex transactions that do not appear to have an economic 
justification or legitimate purpose; 

- Preparation of reports of suspicious transactions to be sent to the appropriate authorities 
(Tracfin). 

 
  Making employees accountable through their  

- Direct involvement in ongoing vigilance and the proper application of procedures; 
- Permanent access to documentation; 
- Periodic awareness-raising exercises and specific training.  

 
  Controls performed through the  

- Permanent control system; 
- Compliance supervision of the appointed Tracfin correspondents authorised to handle 

regulatory reports; 
- Periodic control structure to check the consistency of procedures and their application. 

 
The techniques used in the fight against money laundering and the financing of terrorism are 
described in detail in internal procedures available to all staff, and are updated in accordance 
with changes in regulations on a regular basis. Their application is supported by the use of 
dedicated, graduated tools that form the framework for the initiatives carried out by CMCEE-
CIC at its locations in France and abroad.  
 

                                                      
1 Crédit Mutuel Centre Est Europe, Crédit Mutuel Sud Est, Crédit Mutuel Ile de France and Crédit Mutuel 
Savoie Mont Blanc 
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In 2006, work continued on improving and perfecting the “Tracfin” application, which is in the 
form of an intranet portal. This work included in particular the integration of detection 
processing tools, the improved formal recording of deposits, the ability to display the state of 
progress of current cases and the issuing of major alerts at all Group entities.  
 
In 2007, other changes will be made, in particular with respect to the appropriateness of 
detection filters as part of the effort to bring the system into compliance with the third European 
Directive. 
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EEXXTTRRAAOORRDDIINNAARRYY  GGEENNEERRAALL    
MMEEEETTIINNGG  

 
 

 
 
 
 

REPORT BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The General Meeting is asked to vote on a series of amendments to the Articles of 
Association. As well as updating the provisions concerning general meetings and board 
meetings, and bringing the Articles into line with the articles of association of other Group 
entities, these amendments also cover the insurance activity and directors’ terms of office. 
 
There has been a reform of the legislation regulating the insurance sector and the concept of 
intermediaries. The regulations now cover all types of intermediaries, including in particular 
brokers and insurance agents, both of which services the Group provides. 
 
The new regulations require us to include a reference to intermediation in the corporate 
purpose of all Group companies that offer such a service (Article 2 of the Articles of 
Association). 
 
Following recent legislation, a second series of amendments relates to the inclusion in the 
Articles of Association of new legal and regulatory provisions. These are technical and 
essentially concern the use of electronic means [of communication] at board meetings and 
slight changes to general meetings (Articles 15 and 33 of the Articles of Association). 
 
Finally, one amendment is to impose the same age limit for directors as is stipulated in the 
Articles of Association of the Caisse Fédérale and the Financial Regulations (“RGF”) for local 
banks. The introduction of this rule, which is laid down in Article L 225-19 of the French 
Commercial Code (Code de Commerce), will facilitate matters when individuals hold several 
offices with different terms of office. Another reason for this amendment is to clarify the 
process for resigning from a seat on the board. The law provides that when more than one-
third of the directors are aged over 70 the eldest director will be deemed to have resigned. The 
General Meeting will be asked to record the effective date of this provision, so that instead of 
resigning on their birthday, directors will resign at the general meeting held after their birthday. 
The same meeting will thus be asked to appoint a director to fill the seat which has 
automatically fallen vacant (Article 14 of the Articles of Association). 
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